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Independent Auditor’s Report
[Translation from Russian original]

To the Shareholders
of Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

and other parties

Auditor’s Report Based on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts
Bank (hereinafter — PJSC Best Efforts Bank), which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, cash flow
statement and statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
PJSC Best Efforts Bank as at 31 December 2018, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the audited entity in accordance with the
Rules of Independence of the Auditors and Audit Organizations and The Code of Professional Ethics of the
Auditors, which are in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial statements, in which the Bank discloses the fact that it joined
FATCA (Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act) as a Participating Foreign Financial Institution and arranges
its operation as a qualified intermediary (Ql).

Our opinion is not medified in respect of this matter.

e
limited liability company
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Auditor's Report
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the annual financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the annual financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Measurement of financial assets held for income generation or for sale —
Notes 18, 28 of the financial statements

We believe that it is a key audit matter due to the significant amounts of investments in financial instruments
being securities of various issuers and due to the application of subjective judgements by the management
to develop models for the measurement of the fair value of financial instruments. The current financial
markets are affected by various external and internal factors and are volatile, that is why measurement of
financial instruments may have a significant effect on the Bank's financial performance and financial
position.

In 2018, the Bank carried out transactions with securities and other financial assets classified as at
1 January 2019 as financial assets held for income generation or for sale. The Bank’s investments in
securities are mainly represented by financial instruments traded in active markets (Level 1).

To measure the fair value of financial instruments, the Bank uses observable and unobservable inputs of
various levels. Measurement of the fair value is disclosed in Note 28 of the financial statements.

In respect of this key audit matter ocur audit procedures included:

+ Review of the Bank's internal regulations on measurement methods for their compliance with IFRS
and the regulations of the Bank of Russia, as well as sources of material assumptions used to
measure the fair value of financial instruments;

~ & Analysis of internal control and control environment in terms of the market risk management policy,
including risk limitation, differentiation of powers when accepting the market risk, the market risk
monitoring by the Bank's management bodies;

e Detailed testing (on a sample basis) of significant financial instruments to check methods used to
measure the current fair value;

o Assessing sufficiency of disclosures made by the Bank in the notes to the annual financial
statements about the fair value of financial instruments.

Based on the results of the procedures applied, we found the position of the management related to
measurement of the fair value of financial instruments to be appropriate.

-f.-_fa;.'q'-_—a-—
Limited liubility company
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the quarterly issuer's report of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for the fourth quarter of 2018 and the
quarterly issuer's report of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for the first quarter of 2019, as well as in the Annual
Report for 2018, but does not include the annual financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The
quarterly issuer's report of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for the first quarter of 2019 and the Annual Report for
2018 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
annual financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

We have nothing to report in regard to the quarterly issuer's report of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for the fourth
quarter of 2018. When we read the Annual Report for 2018 and the quarterly issuer's report of PJSC Best
Efforts Bank for the first quarter of 2019, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Other Matter

The annual financial statements of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for 2017 were audited by ACG RBS JSC.
Following the audit of the financial statements ACG RBS JSC expressed an unmodified opinion on the
financial statements of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for 2017. The auditor's report is dated 26 April 2018.

Responsibilities of Management and Members of the Board of Directors for
the Annual Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in
accordance IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Members of the Board of Directors of the Bank are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material lfﬁpgw,aﬂgr
1
compeny_
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they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

a) identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

b) obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the audited entity’s internal control;

c) evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the management of the audited entity;

d) conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the audited entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the audited entity to cease its ability to continue as a going concern;

e) evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors of the audited entity regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors of the audited entity with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors of the audited entity we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the annual financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

. aed linbility cuompany
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Report on audit according to the requirements of Federal Law No. 395-I
dated 2 December 1990 “On banks and banking activities”

Management of the Bank is responsible for compliance by the Bank with the mandatory requirements set by
the Bank of Russia as well as for internal control and organisation of risk management systems of the Bank
to meet the requirements set by the Bank of Russia to the systems like this.

According to Article 42 of Federal Law No. 395-1 dated 2 December 1990 "On banks and banking activities”
during the audit of the annual financial statements of the Bank for 2018 we verified whether:

¢ the Bank was in compliance with the mandatory requirements set by the Bank of Russia as at 1 January
2018;

s internal control and erganisation of risk management systems of the Bank were in compliance with the
requirements set by the Bank of Russia to the systems like this.

The said audit was limited to such procedures selected based on our judgement as requests, analysis,
document examination, comparison of requirements, crder and methodologies approved by the Bank with
the ones set by the Bank of Russia as well as restatement and comparison of amounts and other
information.

The audit has established the following:
1) as for meeting by the Bank of the mandatory requirements set by the Bank of Russia:

e values of the Bank’s mandatory ratios set by the Bank of Russia as of 1 January 2019 were within the
limits set by the Bank of Russia.

We did not conduct any procedures as to accounting records of the Bank other than procedures we
believed were necessary for the purpose of expressing our opinion on whether the annual financial
statements of the Bank presented fairly, in all material respects, its financial position as of 1 January 2019,
financial performance and cash flows for 2018 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards;

2) as for compliance of internal control and organization of risk management systems of the Bank with the
requirements set by the Bank of Russia to the systems like this:

a) in accordance with the requirements and recommendations of the Bank of Russia as at 1 January 2019
the internal audit service of the Bank reported to the Bank's Board of Directors, the risk management
departments of the Bank did not report to the departments assuming the respective risks, the chiefs of the
internal audit service of the Bank and the risk management departments of the Bank met the qualifications
set by the Bank of Russia;

b} as at 1 January 2019 the effective internal documents of the Bank indicating the methodologies for
identification and management of credit, operational, market, interest rate, legal, liquidity and goodwill risks
relevant for the Bank, methodologies for stress-testing were approved by the authorised bodies of the Bank
in accordance with the requirements and recommendations of the Bank of Russia;

c) as at 1 January 2019 the Bank had the reporting system for credit, operational, market, interest rate,
legal, liquidity and goodwill risks relevant for the Bank as well as for the equity of the Bank;

_ Laisited Jithili
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d) frequency and order of reports prepared by the risk management departments and the internal audit
service of the Bank during 2018 as to management of credit, operational, market, interest rate, legal,
liquidity and goodwill risks of the Bank were in compliance with the Bank’s internal documents; the said
reports comprised the results of observation of efficiency measurement of the Bank's respective
methodologies conducted by the Bank’s risk management departments and the internal audit service as
well as recommendations to improve them;

e) as at 1 January 2019 the powers of the Board of Directors of the Bank and its executive bodies
comprised control over the Bank's compliance with risk limits and capital adequacy set by the Bank's
internal documents. For the purpose of control over efficiency of risk management procedures applied in the
Bank and order of their application during 2018 the Board of Directors of the Bank and its executive bodies
discussed on a regular basis reports prepared by the risk management departments of the Bank and the
internal audit service of the Bank, and dealt with the offered measures to remove defects.

The procedures in respect of internal control and organization of risk management systems of the Bank
have been conducted only to verify whether internal control and organization of risk management systems
of the Bank are in compliance with the requirements set by the Bank of Russia to the systems like this.

S.M. Shapiguzov
President of FBK, LLC d}b V|rt.u_e o_f the Art'lc'les of Organisation,
iforQuafification-Certificate
01-001230, ORNZ 21606043397

N.P. Mushkarina
{(Auditor Qualification Certificate

Engagement partner %/ - 01-000988 dated 19 November 2012, ORNZ

21606041880)

Date of Independent Auditor's Report:
14 March 2019
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Audited entity

Name:

Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank
(PJSC Best Efforts Bank)

Place of business:

38/1 Dolgorukovskaya str.,
Russian Federation.

Moscow, 1270086,

Official registration:

Registered by the Central Bank of the Russian
Federation on 3 October 1990, registration number
435,

The registration entry was made in the Unified State
Register of Legal Entities on 21 January 2003 under
primary state registration number (OGRN)
1037700041323.

PJSC Best Efforts Bank
Auditor's Report

TRANSLATION NOTE: Our report has been prepared in Russian and in English. In all matters; Wmm\ﬁm

Auditor

Name:
FBK, LLC
Place of business:

44/1, 2AB, Myasnitskaya St,
Russian Federation.

Moscow, 101990,

Official registration:

State registration certificate series YZ 3 No. 484.583
RP, issued by Moscow Registration Chamber on
15 November 1993. The registration entry was made
in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on
24 July 2002 under primary state registration number
(OGRN) 1027700058286.

Membership in self-regulatory organisation of
auditors:

Self-regulatory organization of auditors Association
"Sodruzhestvo".

Number in the register of self-regulatory
organization of auditors:

Certificate of membership in the self-regulatory
organization of auditors Association "Sodruzhestvo"
No. 7198, number in the register — 11506030481.
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Note For 2018 For 2017

Interest income 5 258 395 245 317
Interest expense 5 {114 002) (82 191)
Net interest income 144 393 163 126
Change in provision for expecled credil losses on interesi bearing assets 6 38 109 -
Net interest income / (expense) after change in provision for expected credit losses 182 502 163 126
Operating income 27 996 72248
Income less expenses frem transactions wilh financial assets / liabilities 7 (9 419) {21 227)
Income less expenses from transactions with foreign currencies and derivalive financial

i 7979 9423
instruments

Income less expense from foreign currency revaluation 29 436 84 053
Fee and commission income 8 249 791 172 881
Fee and commission expense 8 {116 119) {104 610)
Change in other provisions and change in estimated liabilities 6 4114 (19 613)
Other operating income 1097 2327
Operating expenses 9 {242 923) (191 398)
Profit before tax 106 458 94 962
Current income tax (expense) 10 (30 844) (19 006}
Changes in deferred taxes due to occurrence and wriling off of temporary differences (17 926) 3766
NET PROFIT /{LOSS) 75614 75 956
Other comprehensive income (14 373) (2 660}
Change in fair value of financial assets held for income generation or for sale {15 287) (2 660)
Change in value of property, plant and equipment at revaluation 914 i
Total other comprehensive income components less tax (14 373) (2 660}
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 61 241 73 296

Chaiman of the Management Board

Signed on 14 March 2019 W
. J 1. B. lonova
Gy

Chief Accountant N. G. Popova

Page 10




Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with [FRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles}

Statement of Financial Position

Note 31 December 2018 31 December 2017

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 13 340674 1 467 286
Mandatory cash balances with the Central Bank of Russia 22 239 38 896
Financial assels at fair value through profit or loss 14 58 743 47 819
Due from financial instilulions 15 403 299 360 255
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 1901 925 3 333 491
Paositive fair value of derivative financial instruments 26 3549 6273
Loans and advances to customers 16 13 189 19 203
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 17 1585332 1585213
- owned by the Bank 1171791 1235 555
- pledged under repo agreemenis 413 541 349 658
Current income tax receivable 4 385 4 405
Deferred tax asset 10 2 656 17 986
Property, plant and equipment 86 332 113 848
Intangible assels 11177 10 891
Other assetls 18 14 903 6220
Total assets 4 448 403 7011787
LIABILITIES
Negative fair value of derivative financial instruments 26 2 542 1120
Due to banks and other financial institutions 19 11 242 1133
Obligations to supply securities - 718 993
Accounts payable under repo agreements 470 084 1517 104
Customer accounts 20 2 697 296 3398 848
Deferred tax liability 10 - -
Other liabilities and provisions 21 146 325 33 452
Total liabilities 3 327 489 5670650
EQUITY
Share capital / Paid-in capital 22 702 762 702 762
Share premium 22 685 811 685811
Revaluation reserve o_f financial assets held for income generalion or for sale at fair value through (17 735) (2 448)
other comprehensive income
Revaluation reserve of property, plant and equipment 914 -
Retained eamings / (Accumulated deficit) (250 838) (44 988)
Total equity 1120 914 1341137
Total liabilities and equity 4 448 403 7011787
Signed on 14 March 2019

Chairman of the Management Board |. B. lenova

Chief Accountant N. G. Popova
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS

for the year ended 31 December 2018
(thousand Russian rubles)

Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2018

£ 5885 - ~ g
7 o
2 ; g p35Es 2R g
= = 3 sc§S5 5 T o = £ 3 =
=5 = € gmsgge 255 Eg 5
g B4 # s e8E38g e8¢ 5% 2
2 g8 g < §82%88 552 o = =
= g8 2 g SN SEg.E SE3 33 ]
= © = SEom 0 LR EE o
@ o £ S50y = 2o M 3 =
£ = n SEERZ ] @ 8
5 $23:% s g
@ ®EeF o =
Balance at 1 January 2017 702 762 685811 212 - {120 944) 1267 841
Comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2017 - - {2 660) - 75 956 73 296
after tax
Balance at 31 December 2017 702 762 685811 (2 448) - {44 988) 1341137
Effect of enlering IFRS 9 into R - - ” (1127) (1127)
force
Restated balance at 1
January 2018 702762 685 811 (2 448) - {46 115) 1340010
Comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2018 - - {15 287) 914 75614 61 241
after tax
Dividend payment (280 337) (280 337)
?;1':"“ &gy 31iDagembery 702 762 685811 {17 735) 914 (250 838) 1120914
Signed on 14 March 2019 w 7’
Chairman of the Management Board |. B. lonova
Chief Accountant N. G. Popova
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

Cash Flow Statement

Note For 2018 For 2017

Cash flows from operaling aclivities

Interest received 258 133 240 404
Interest paid (115 050} (65 198)
Fees and commissions received 249 168 172 881
Fees and commissions paid (116 159) (104 566)
!nct.]me I(expense;) fram transaclions with financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held (9 419) (26 827)
for income generalion or for sale

Income / {expense) from foreign currency transactions 7979 (6 308)
Other operating income 1097

Operating expense paid (243 007} (168 265"
Income tax {expense) / recovery (29919) (42 416)
Cash flow from / {used in) operating activity before changes in operating assets and

Sipinan 2824 (295)
liabilities

Net (increase) / decrease in mandatory cash balances wilh the Bank of Russia 16 658 (10 260)
Net (increase) / decrease of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (10 554) (587 805)
Net (increase) / decrease in due from financial instilutions 33873 (192 676)
Net (increase) / decrease in accounts receivable under repo agreements 1 500 634 (1872097)
Net (increase) / decrease in posilive fair value of derivative financial instruments 2724 11 267
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and advances lo customers 6 321 41 868
Net (increase) / decrease in other assets 22 930 18 003
Net increase / {decrease) in negalive fair value of derivative financial instruments 1422 (5 169)
Net increase / {decrease) in due to banks and other financial inslitutions 10 109 497
Net increase / {decrease) in obligations lo supply securilies (718 893) 718993
Net increase / {decrease) in accounts payable under repo agreements (1 096 090) 887 130
Net increase / {decrease) in customer accounts {854 627) 636 722
Net increase / {decrease) in other liabililies 108 305 722
Net cash flow from / {used in} operating activity (974 465) (353 100)
Cash flow from investing aclivities

Acquisition of financial assets held for income generation or for sale 12 970 167 (16 767 420)
Revenues from sales of financial assets held for income generation aor for sale (12976 134) 16 772 053
Acquisition of financial assets held for income generation (726) -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 32 258 (55 572)
Gain from realisation of property, plant and equipment - -
Net cash flow from / (used in) investing activities 25 565 (50 939)

Linuited liubility company

FBK
Auditor's report
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles}

Cash flows from financial aclivities

Dividends paid (279 581) -
Net cash flow from / {used In) financial activity (279 581} -
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 101 868 25 454
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (1126 612} (378 585)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporling period 1467 286 1845 871
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 340674 1 467 286
Signed on 14 March 2019
S
Chairman of the Management Board g( I. B. lonova

Chief Accountant N. G. Popova

Limited liabilh
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

Notes to the Financial Statements
1 Principal Activities

The Bank has been carrying out its activities since 1990 under the current legislation and the licenses issued:

- License of the Central Bank of the Russian Federalion for banking transactions with individuals and legal entities No. 435 without limitation of the validity period;
- Professional securities trader license for dealership No. 077-13818-010000 without limitation of the validity period;

- Professional securities trader license for brokerage No. 077-13817-100000 without limitation of the validity period;

- Professional securities trader license for custody business No. 0077-13860-000100 without limitation of the validity period.

The Bank parlicipates in the Russian deposit insurance program since 26 August 2005.

The Bank is a member of the Association of Financial Market Participants Non-Commercial Parinership of RTS' Financial Market Development, The National Association of Stock
Market Participants, The Association of Banks of Russia, and Non-Commercial Organization Russian National SWIFT Association.

RAEX (Expert RA) rating agency upgraded the credit rating of the Bank to lhe level ruA-. The raling has a stable outlook, which means a high probability of maintaining the rating in the
medium term.

The Bank was regislered on the website of the US Intemal Revenue Service (IRS) in the status of a “Parlicipating Foreign Financial Institution® and was assigned the Global
Intermediary Identification Number (GIIN): B5TWNA.99999.SL.643.

The US Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has assigned lo PJSC Best Efforts Bank the identification number of a qualified intermediary (QI-EIN) 98-0242949. (The IRS is a government
agency of the US federal govemment that collects taxes and monitors compliance with tax legislalion).

As at 31 December 2018, the Bank does not have any branches or subsidiaries.

The Bank has one structural unit:
- additional Central office: 38/1 Dolgorukovskaya sir., Moscow 127006.

Principal banking transactions of the Bank are as follows:

- Brokerage and custody services;

- Cash management and payment services for legal entities and individuals in Russian ruble and foreign currencies;
- Outsourcing of internal accounting of professional participants of securities market;

- Repo transactions;

- Securities transactions;

- Foreign exchange transactions both by customer orders and for account of the Bank;

- Lending of legal entities and individuals;

- Attraction of deposits of corporate clients and individual depositors.

The Bank is a lrader of PJSC Moscow Exchange and PJSC Saint-Petersburg Exchange and provides services to access the intemational platforms (CME Group, EBS money market,
the US and European stock markets).

The key line of the Bank's aclivilies is providing a wide range of brokerage and cuslody services to professional financial market participants and custody services to cuslomers of
professional securilies traders not having a license for custody services. The Bank is an intermediary to provide an access to the key exchange trading markelplaces, offering viable
solutions in asset reservation and risk assessment.

The Bank consislently accomplishes the adopted development sirategy objectives, focusing on maintaining and expanding the achieved volume of cooperation with professional
financial market participants, including those of the foreign market.

Considering further service development and improvement oplions, the Bank develops new teols and technologies on an ongeing basis, offering its cuslomers a complete suite of
innovative services and advanced information solutions, products, and know how, which make it possible lo achieve ihe ultimate economic efficiency. The Bank plans to enable a
breakthrough level of customer service and to build a modem commercially viable Bank having a strong diversified client base and a ground-breaking process toolkit sufficient lo ensure
fundamental sirength against stressful situations in the economy and providing the required basis for further development.

By providing customers with an access-to exchange platforms, in 2018, the Bank secured iis high positions in the raling of PJSC Moscow Exchange and PJSC Saint-Petersburg
Exchange.

At PJSC Saint-Pelersburg Exchange:

- The Bank was one of the largest participants (the 1st positicn) on the Equities Market in the Foreign Securilies and Eurobonds Group of Instruments (in US dollars);

- The Bank was one of the largest participants (the 1st positicn) on the Equilies Market in the Russian Securities Group of Instruments (in Russian rubles).

Al PJSC Moscow Exchange:

- The Bank was one of the largest participants on the Equities: Main Trading Mode T+ Market in the Equities and Funds: Main Trading Mode T+ with a tumover of 5.8 billion Russian
rubles (the 24th position};

- The Bank was one of the 20 largest participants on the Repo with Central Counterparty Market in the Leading Repo Market Operators of Equities and Funds: Repo with Central
Counterparty with a tumover of 5.92 billion Russian rubles (the 15th position).

The Bank timely re-registered the agreement under FATCA and obtained the primary and regular cerfification of the Bank's aclivilies under FATCA. The Bank adopted the Regulations
on Compliance by PJSC Best Efforts Bank with the US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) approved by Order of the Chairman of the Bank's Management Board No. 01-04-
05/03 dated 5 April 2017.

The document contains information on the necessary terms and definitions of the US Foreign Accounts Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) and Federal Law No. 173-FZ dated 28 June 2014
On the Specifics of Financial Transactions with Foreign Citizens and Legal Enlities. The procedures for identifying customers and identification for the purposes of FATCA are
described, the procedures for interaction between departments, annual reporting procedures are defined. In compliance with the FATCA, information on the status of clients under
FATCA is filled in by the Bank, the availability of GIIN numbers for clients is reflected. During the year, the Bank's client base is monitored for the purpose of not increasing the number
of customers with a negative FATCA status among clients-professional parlicipants of the securities market conducling operalions in foreign markets. Employees of the Bank,
responsible for working with clients, are familiar with the cumrent editions of the W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY tax forms and the specifics of their filing. For the convenience of
customers, the W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-B1MY tax forms are posted on the Bank's website. The Bank also developed and operates Criteria for Assigning Clients of PJSC Best Efforts
Bank to the Category of Foreign Taxpayers and Ways to Obtain the Necessary Information from them approved by Order of the Chairman of the Bank’s Management Board No. 01-09-
01/05 dated 1 September 2017. The Bank approved forms of the Questionnaire for referring clients to the category of foreign laxpayers. For the convenience of customers, the text of
the Questionnaire is translated into English. These documents as well as cumrent versions of the W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY tax forms are posted on the official website of the Bank
in the Intemet: http:/besteffortsbank.ru. The Bank has the status of a Qualified Intermediary (Ql}. The Internal Revenue Service {IRS) assigned the identification number of a qualified
intermediary (QI-EIN) 98-0242949 to the Bank. The Bank underwent a planned update of the QI contract. The Bank approved the Procedure for Depository Accounting and Provision of
Information for the Purpose of Fulffiling the Requirements of the US Tax Code by the Depositors of PJSC Best Efforis Bank when Receiving Income from Securities of US Issuers
approved by Order of the Chairman of ihe Bank's Management Board No. 01-04-28/02 dated 28 April 2018 and application forms for clients. This procedure contains information on the
work of the Bank as a qualified intermediary (QI) with the possibility to maintain combined depositary accounting, depending on the place of storage of securilies and the rules for
providing information about the Bank’s clients. The Bank is working to inform clients about its actions to obtain possible tax benefits and the need to provide propery issued documents,
including tax forms. .
In 2018, the Bank's employees were lrained at KPMG on FATCA/CRS. A number of seminars and webinars for customer: ',"we'ﬁi\
involving the Bank's representatives and the presentation materials on FATCA/CRS were prepared. %
f
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In accordance with the requirements of Federal Law No. 340-FZ dated 27 November 2017 On Amendments to Part One of the Tax Code of the Russian Federation in Connection with
Implementation of International Automalic Information and Documents Exchange on International Groups of Companies and due to the entry into force of Decree of the Government
No. 693 dated 16 June 2018 On Implementation of Intemational Automatic Information and Documents Exchange with Competent Authorities of Foreign States (Territories), the Bank
developed and adopted the Regulations on Implementalion by PJSC Best Efforts Bank of Aclions to Determine Tax Residence of Customers, Beneficiaries, and/or Persons Directly or
Indireclly Controling Them and to Provide Information to a Federal Execulive Authority for Monitering of and Supervision over Taxes and Levies approved by Order of the Chairman of
the Bank's Management Board No. 01-07-12/01 dated 12 July 2018. The Bank approved and put into effect the customer’s tax residency confirmation forms; such forms are posted on
the Bank's website hitp://besteffortsbank.ru in FATCA/CRS section.

2 Economic Environment in which the Bank Operates

The Bank's operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation.

The Russian economy displays certain characteristics of an emerging market. The national economy is particularly sensilive to the prices for oil and gas. The legal, tax, and regulatory
systems keep on developing, are exposed to frequent changes, and allow for different interpretations. Low prices for oil, persistent political tension in the region as well as ongoing
intemational sanctions conceming some Russian companies and citizens had negative influence on the Russian economy in 2017-2018. These factors contributed to economic
downtum in the country characterized by the fall of the gross domestic product. Financial markets are sill characterized by instability, frequent and significant changes in prices and
increase in trading spread. Such economic environment exercises significant influence over activity and financial state of the Bank. Management takes all measures necessary to
ensure sustainable activity of the Bank. However, future effects of present economic situation are hard to predict and current expectations and estimates of management may vary from
actual resulis.

Management determined the level of provisions for loan impairment using the “expected credit loss (ECL) model” in accordance with the requirements of the applicable accounting
standards. Since 1 January 2018, the Bank recognizes the provision for expected credit losses on all loans and other debt financial assels that are not measured at fair value through
profit or loss as well as on loan commitments and financial guarantee agreements (hereinafter jointly referred to in this section as the “financial instruments”). However, the ECL model
is of estimating nalure only as it considers the data available at the time of preparation of these stalements, thus, the actual losses from impairment of financial assets may differ
significantly from the current provisions.

3 Basis of Presentation

The Bank’s financial statements are drawn up in compliance with the Intemational Financial Reporling Standards (IFRS), including all previously approved IFRS and Interpretations of
the Standing Interpretations Committee and Intemational Financial Reporiing Standards Interpretations Committee, The Bank keeps bocks and draws up financial statements in
accordance with the legislation applied in the countries of ils registration. These financial statements are prepared on the basis of the financial stalements subject to adjustments and
reclassification of the items necessary to bring them in compliance with IFRS. The accounting principles used in preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These
principles were consistently applied to all pericds presented in the statements, unless otherwise stated.

The Bank's functional currency is Russian ruble, national currency of the Russian Federation ("RUB"). Unless otherwise indicated, all figures in the financial statements are presented in
thousands of Russian rubles.

As at 31 December 2018, the official exchange rate used for revaluation of balances on accounts in foreign cumency was RUB 62.7565 per USD 1 (31 December 2017: RUB 57.6002
per USD 1) and RUB 72.9921 per EUR 1 (31 December 2017: RUB 68.8668 per EUR 1) and RUB 88.2832 per GBP 1 (31 December 2017: RUB 77.6739 per GBP 1).

4  Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies and accounting methods used in preparalion of these financial statements are consistent with the accounting policies and metheds used in the Bank's annual
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, except for some new standards, interpretalions, and amendments to the existing standards listed in the Bank's financial
statements, which became binding since 1 January 2018. In addilion to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, the effect of adoption of which is disclosed below in these financial statements,
other standards had no material effect on these financial stalements of the Bank. As it is aulhorised by the fransition provision of IFRS 9, the Bank does not restate the results of the
comparable period. The relevant information on the comparable period is shown in accordance with the previous accounting policies as noted in the Bank's financial statements for
2017. Al the beginning, the retained eamings and other capital components in the curent period were recognised as adjustments for the carrying amount of financial assels and
liabilities as at 1 January 2018.
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4.1 Key Measurement Condilions
When recognising financial insiruments, the Bank applies the following valualion techniques:

- Atfair value

—  Atamortized cost

Fair value is the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value is measured based on the assumplion that a transaclion to sell an asset or lo lransfer a liability akes place either on the main market of the asset or the liability or, if there
is no main market, on the market most profitable for the asset or the liability. The fair value is the current price of an offer for financial assets, the current price of demand for financial
liabilities, and the average cument prices of demand and offer, when the Group holds both short and long positiens in a financial instrument. A financial instrument is considered as
quoted in an aclive market if the guoted prices are regularly and at any time available according to the data of a stock exchange or any ether institution, and these prices present actual
and regular market transactions on a centinuous basis. The valuation techniques are used o measure the fair value of certain financial instruments, for which the information on prices
on the external market is unavailable.

Such valuation techniques include discounted cash flow models, generally accepted option pricing models, models based on recent transactions between independent market
participants, or analysis of investee's financial performance. Valuatien techniques may require assumptions that are not supported with the observable market data.

Additional information on fair value and fair value eslimates is shown in these financial statements.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was measured at inilial recognition, less any principal repayments, plus interest accrued and, for financial assets,
adjusted for the eslimated provision for expected credit losses. The interest accrued includes depreciation of transaclion costs deferred at inilial recognition and any premiums or
discounts on the repayment amount using the effeclive interest method. Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accumulated coupon and amortised
discount and premium, including payments defemed as they arise, if any, are not recorded separately and are included in the camying amount of the relevant asset or liability in the
consolidated statement of financial posilion.

Gross carrying amount of a financial asset is an amortised cost of the financial asset prior to deduction of the estimated provision for expected credit losses.

Transaclion costs are additional costs directly related to acquisition, issuance, or disposal of a financial instrument. Additional costs are costs that would not have been incurred if the
transaclion had not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acling as sales agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, charges
of regulatery authorities and stock exchanges as well as taxes and levies paid at transfer of property. Transaction costs do not include premiums or discounts on debt liabilities, finance
costs, or intemal administrative expenses.

The effective interest method is a methed to allocate interest income cr interest expense for the relevant period so as to ensure a constant periodical interest rate (effective interest
rate) for the current value of an instrument. The effective interest rate is an accurale discount rate for estimated future cash payments or proceeds (except for future credit losses) within
the expected lifetime of a financial instrument up to the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate on financial instruments other than impaired financial assets, the Bank shall measure future cash flows taking into account all contraciual
terms of the financial instrument without considering the expected credit losses. For the assets that are impaired financial assels, the effeclive interest rate is adjusted for the credit risk,
which includes the expected credit losses on eslimated fulure cash flows. The calculation of an effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and paid or received
commissions that are an integral part of the effeclive interest rate. The transaction costs include additional costs directly related to acquisition or issuance of a financial asset or liability.

4.2 Initial Recognifion and Classification of Financial Instruments
A financial asset or liability shall be initially measured at fair value plus, for an instrument not measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs direclly related to its
acquisition or issuance. The best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price. Profit or loss from initial recognition shall be recognised only if there is a difference

between the fair value and the transaction price as evidenced by other observable current market transactions for the same instrument or the valuation techniques, which include only
data of the observable markets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets requiring delivery within the period established by the regulations or the market conditions (for purchases and sales) shall be recorded as at
the transaction date being the date, when the Bank assumed an obligation to deliver a financial instrument. All other purchases and sales shall be recognised, when the Bank becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Since 1 January 2018, at initial recognition, a financial asset shall be classified as measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met and it is not classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss:

—  The assetis held within a business model, the objeclive of which is to hold assets in order fo collect coniractual cash flows;
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

A debt instrument shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if both of the following conditions are met and it is not classified as measured at fair value
through prefit or loss: :

irited LiabiTily company

vs and to sell the financial asset;
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—  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates o cash flows thal are solely payments of principal and interest.

Financial assets shall not be reclassified after their initial recognition, except for the period after changing the business model for managing financial assets. At the same time, at initial
recagnition, the Bank may irevocably define a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements for its measurement at amortised cost or at FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL, if it
removes or significantly reduces the accounting mismatch that olherwise would occur.

The Bank shall assess the objective of the business model, where the asset is held in the portfolio, based on all relevant evidence of the aclivilies the Bank intends to be engaged in to
achieve the goal set for the portfolio available at the assessment date.

4.3 Impairment of Financial Assels

In order to fairly reflect the assumed risks in the slatements, the Bank forms provisions for investments in all financial asset groups, except for financial assets measured al fair value
through profit or loss, deferred fax assets, and assels arising from remuneration to the employees.

The entry of IFRS 9 into force principally changes the Bank's approach to accounting of loan impairment. Instead of an incurred loss approach pursuant to IAS 39, a forward-looking
approach requiring recognition of expected credit losses (ECL) is intreduced. Since 1 January 2018, the Bank recognizes the provision for expecled credit losses on all loans and other
debt financial assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss as well as on loan commitments and financial guarantee agreements (hereinafter jointly referred to in this
section as the “financial instruments™). The requirements of IFRS 9 for impairment do not apply to equity financial instruments.

Based on the forecasts, the Bank shall measure the expected credit losses related to debt financial assets measured at amoriised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive
income and to the risks arising from credit related commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank shall measure the expected credit losses and recognise the estimated
provision for credit losses as at each reporling date, and the measurement of expected credit losses shall reflect:

—  Anunbiased and prebability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating the range of possible culcomes;
—  The time value of money;

Reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of fulure economic conditions available at the reporiing date without undue cost or
effort.

Deblt financial assets measured at amortised cost shall be recorded in lhe statement of financial position less the estimated provision for expected credit losses. For credit related
commitments and financial guarantees (if these components may be separated from a loan), a separate provision for expected credit losses shall be recognised within liabilities in the
statement of financial position. For debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, an estimated provision for expected credit losses shall be recognised
within profit or loss and it impacls the profit or loss from changes in the fair value recegnised in other comprehensive income rather than the carrying amount of these instruments.

The Bank shall apply the impairment model under IFRS 9 based on the changes in the credit quality since initial recognition:

A financial asset that is not impaired at initial recognition, for which there was no significant increase in the credit risk in the reporting period as compared to the level established at
initial recognilion, as well as an asset attributable to the low-risk portfolio as at the reporting date shall be classified as atiributable to Stage 1. For Stage 1 financial assets, the
expected credit losses shall be measured in the amount equal to a part of the full lifelime expecled credit losses arising as a result of defaults that may occur within the next 12
months (12-month ECL).

If the Bank identifies a significant increase in the credit risk since inilial recognition, the asset shall be classified as atiributable to Stage 2 and the expected credit losses shall be
measured based on the full lifelime expected credit losses (full lifetime ECL).

If the Bank determines that a financial asset is impaired: the borrower is assigned a default stalus and at the same time the loan is recognised as a bad one, lhe asset shall be
classified as attributable fo Stage 3 and the expected credit losses shall be measured as the full lifetime expected credit losses.

Originated or purchased credit-impaired products include:
—  Loans purchased by the Bank at a deep discount. The deep discount shall mean a discount of 15% or more of the nominal value of the loan purchased.
—  Individual types of reslructured transaclions being at stages 2 and 3 and classified as impaired at origination.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the expected credit losses are always measured as lifelime expected credit losses.

On each reporting date, the Bank performs a measurement in order to detect a significant increase in the credit risk since recognition of a financial instrument. To estimate ECL, the
following compenents are used:

PD Is a probability of default determined based on the risk segment and the intemal raling (or past due loan group) for the relevant period (12 months or full lifetime of an instrument
(Lifetime PD)). The values are determined based on the internal stafislics using the medels and using the migration matrices. Lifetime PD is determined inclusive of the forecast
information. Current and expected changes in the macroeconomic situation (for example, real GDP growth, capital outflow, growih in real disposable income of the population, etc.) are
used as the forecast information. The key segmentation principle for determining the probability of default (PD) for provisioning expects that debt financial instruments having similar risk
profiles should be atiributed to the same portfolio with a similar risk level. The risk segment is determined based on the specific feature of aclivities of a counterpartyfissuer, residence
country, business size and model.

)

LGD is a loss given default determined as a percentage of the exposure at default. The values are determined using 1Iita nodels developed based on the intemnal statistics.
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EAD is exposure at default. The values are determined using the models developed based on the intemal stalistics.

If the counterparty has cument balance sheet debt, provision for credit losses for credit related commitments is assessed in accordance with the approaches applied to provisioning
balance sheet debt of lhis counterparty adjusted for the credit conversion factor (CCF) determined based on lhe stalistical data and the Basel ralios. If the counterparty has only credit
related commitments, estimated provisions for credit losses are calculated depending on the scope of obligations adjusted for CCF, either individually or on a group basis.

Classification of financial assets into five categories of the credit risk is summary information on the credit quality of the financial assets falling within the scope of IFRS 9. Ralios of a
range of the probability of default based on the intemal ratings and the credit risk level assessed by the Bank are given below:

- Minimum credit risk — assets with counterparties that demonsirate a stable ability to fulfil financial liabilities in time with an insignificant probability of default

- Low credit risk — assets with counterparlies having a low probability of default and a strong ability to fulfil financial liabilities in time

Moderate credit risk — assets with counterparties having a moderate probability of default and a normal ability to fulfil financial liabilities in time; more careful attention during
monitoring is required

- High credit risk — assets with counterparties having a high prebability of default; clese attention during monitoring is required

- Default — assets that are qualified as defaulling considering all available signs of impairment
List of macroeconomic indicaters:

- Real GDP

- Unemployment

- Consumer price growth

- 10-year govemment bond yield

4.4 Derecognition of Financial Assels

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset only when one of the below conditions is met:

—  The contraciual righls of claim to cash flows from the financial asset come due;

—  The Bank transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The financial asset is deemed transfemred by the Bank only when one of the below cenditions is met:
—  The Bank transfers the contraciual rights to collect cash flows from the financial asset;

The Bank retains the conlractual rights 1o collect cash flows from the financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay cash flows to one or more third parties, and when
the certain other condilions are met.

Upon transfer of a financial asset, the Bank evaluates the degree, to which it retains risks and rewards of ownership of this financial asset. If the Bank:

Transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ewnership of a financial asset, the financial asset is derecognised. Righis or obligations accrued or retained when iransferring the
financial asset are recognised separately as assets or liabilities;

- Retains substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a financial assel, recognition of this financial asset is continued;

Neither retains nor transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, it determines whether the control over this financial asset is retained. If the control
— s not retained, the Bank derecognises the transferred financial asset. Righls or obligaticns accrued or retained when transferring the financial asset are recognised separately as
assels or liabililies. When control is retained, the Bank continues to recognise the transferred financial asset to the extent of its participation in it.

When an assel is redesignated with a considerable change in the terms, the redesignated asset is derecognised and then recognised in the balance sheet as newly purchased.

When a financial asset is redesignated without considerable changes in the terms, the redesignated asset is recognised at carrying amount of the redesignated financial asset.

4.5 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash equivalents in the form of short-term and highly liquid investments easily convertible into a certain amount of cash and
exposed to insignificant risk of value fluctuation. All short-term interbank placements, beyond overnight placements, are included in due from other banks. Any amounts, the use of
which is in any way restricted, are not classified as cash and cash equivalents.

4.6 Mandatory Cash Balances with the Central Bank of Russia

Mandatory cash balances are cash deposited with the Bank of Russia which are not intended for financing current transactions of the Bank. Consequently, they are not considered as
part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement.

4.7 Financial Assets af Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
All debt financial assets that do not meet criterion of being “solely payments of principal and interest on the principal ameunt outstanding” (SPPI) are classified at initial recognition as
financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. Pursuant to such criterion, any debt instruments that do not meet the definition of a “basic loan agreement®, such as instruments

embodying convertibility option, or non-recourse loans are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Securities at fair value lhrough_ profit ap: sified
within debt securilies at profit or loss and recorded at fair value through profit or loss, since they are not held to collect contractuat-eaat-fHawb e
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The fair value is measured based on the assumption that a transaction {o sell an asset or to transfer a liability takes place either on the main market of the asset or the liability or, if there
is no main market, on the market mos! profitable for the asset or the liability. The fair value is the current price of an offer for financial assets, the current price of demand for financial
liabilities, and the average curent prices of demand and offer, when the Bank holds both short and long positions in a financial instrument. A financial instrument is considered as
quoted in an aclive market if the quoted prices are regularly and at any time available according lo the data of a stock exchange or any other institution, and these prices present actual
and regular market transactions on a continuous basis. The valuation techniques are used to measure the fair value of certain financial insiruments, for which the information on prices
on the extemal market is unavailable.

Realised and unrealised income and expense from transactions in financial assels at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of profit and loss for the period when
they occur within income less expenses from transactions in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of profit and loss as interest income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. Dividends received are recorded in line “Other operating income” in the statement of profit and loss, when the right of the Bank to receive payments is established and
there is a possibility to receive dividends.

Purchase and sale of financial assels at fair value through profit or loss 1o be delivered within the term set by the law or the market convention (purchase and sale under standard
conlracts) are recognised on ihe transaction date, i.e. the date when the Bank undertakes to sell or buy such assets.

The Bank classifies financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at the time of purchase. Financial assets classified into this group shall not be reclassified, except for the period
after changing the business model fer managing financial assets.

4.8 Transaclions in Sale (Purchase) of Trading Securilies Subject to their Reverse Repurchase {Sale}

Transactions in sale of trading securities subject to their reverse repurchase (repurchase transactions) are freated as operafions to raise cash against collateral of securities. Trading
securities transferred under reverse repurchase lransactions are recorded in items depending on the financial instrument group determined on the sale date.

Transactions in purchase of trading securities subject to their reverse sale (reverse repurchase transaclions) are lrealed as operations to provide cash against collateral of securities.

Securities acquired under reserve repurchase transactions are not recorded in the balance sheet. Relevant requirements with regard to provided cash are recorded in line “Receivables
under repo agreements”.

The difference between the purchase price and ihe reverse sale price of the security is recognised as interest income and is accrued within the entire repurchase transaction validity
term using the effective interest method.

Trading securities lent by the Bank to counterparties are sill recorded as trading securities in the Bank’s financial statements.

Securities received as a loan are not recorded in lhe financial stalements. If these securities are sold to third parties, the financial result from purchase and sale of such securities is
recorded in the statement of profit and loss in line “Income less expenses from transactions with financial assets / liabilities”.

Liability to retumn such securities is recorded at fair value as held fer trading.

4.9 Due from Financial Institutions

Due from financial institutions includes financial assets not being derivative financial instruments, wilh fixed payments, not quoted in an active market, provided by the Bank to
counterparties (including the Bank of Russia), other than:

a) Ovemight deposits;

b) Those that the Bank intends to sell immedialely or in the near term and which shall be classified as available for sale and those that the Bank measures afler inilial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss;

c) Those that are determined as held for income generation or for sale afier initial recognition;

d) Those, for which the Bank may not recover all of its inilial investment, other than because of credit deterioration, which shall be classified as held for income generation or for sale.

In line “Due from financial institutions” of the statement of financial position, the Bank reflects loans issued to and deposits placed with other credit and financial institutions as well as
balances en corespondent nostre accounts, not equal to cash equivalents.

Due from financial institutions is recorded at amortised cost. Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was measured at initial recognition, less any principal
repayments, plus interest accrued and, for financial assets, adjusted for the estimated provision for expecled credit losses.

The difference between the fair value and the nominal value of a loan {(deposit), occuring when loans are extended (deposits are placed) at interest rates above or below existing
market rates, is recorded in the statement of profit and loss when such loan is extended (deposit is placed) in ilem “Income (expenses) from assets invested al rates above (below) the
market rates”. Subsequenily, the carmying amount of such loans (deposits) is adjusted to depreciation of this income/(expenses) and the interest income is recorded in the statement of
profit and loss using the effeclive interest method.

The procedure for determining impairment of financial assets is set out in section 4.3 “Impairment of Financial Assets™.

4.10 Loans and Advances to Customers

Loans and advances to customers meeting SPPI test are held to collect conlractual cash flows and measured at amortised cost. Impairment of loans at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income is determined using the forecast expected credit loss model. There is information on inputs, assumptions, and accounting methods used when
measuring expected credit losses, including explanation how the Bank includes the forecast information in the expecled credit loss model.

SPPI test assumes that cash flows from a financial asset are solely payments of principal and interest. For example, ioanf.ﬁﬁmmw company's profit, will not meet
SPPI test and will be recorded at fair value. When applying the test, all loans are divided into three stages: Almiied liahility company

Stage 1. Group of assets, which obviously meet SPPI test based on the general parameters of the agreement
Stage 2. Subgroup of homogeneous assels, which may be analysed on a group basis

Stage 3. Individual analysis
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The difference between the fair value and the nominal value of a loan is recorded in the statement of profit and loss as income from assets at rates above the market rates or as an
expense from assels at rates below the market rates. Subsequently, the carrying amount of such loans is adjusted to depreciation of income (expenses) from the loan, and the relevant
income is included in the statement of profit and loss using the effective interest method.

The Bank shall apply the impairment model based on the changes in the credit quality since initial recognition:
A financial asset that is not impaired at initial recognition, for which there was no significant increase in the credit risk in the reporting period as compared to the level established at
initial recognition, as well as an asset attribulable to the low-risk portiolio as at the reporting date shall be classified as atiributable to Stage 1. For Stage 1 financial assets, lhe

expected credit losses shall be measured in the amount equal to a part of the full lifetime expected credit losses arising as a result of defaults that may eceur within the next 12
menths (12-month ECL).

If the Bank identifies a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition, the asset shall be classified as attributable to Stage 2 and the expected credit losses shall be
measured based on the full lifetime expected credit losses (full lifetime ECL).

If the Bank determines that a financial asset is impaired: the borrower is assigned a default status and at the same time the loan is recognised as a bad one, the asset shall be
classified as aliributable to Stage 3 and the expected credit losses shall be measured as the full lifetime expecled credit losses.

The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced by means of the account for provision for expected credit losses. After assessment of objective signs of impairment on an
individual basis, in case of absence of such signs, loans are included in a greup of financial assets wilh similar credit risk to assess any signs of their impairment cn an aggregate basis.

4.11 Financial Assets Held for Income Generation or for Sale

This calegery includes non-derivalive financial assels designated as held for income generalion or for sale or not classified as loans and receivables, invesiments held fer income
generation, and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. The Bank classifies financial asseis on the acquisition date.

Financial assels held for income generation or for sale at inilial recognition are recorded at fair value through other comprehensive income. In this regard, as a rule, the fair value is the
transaction price of purchasing such financial asset. Financial assets held for income generation or for sale are furlher measured at fair value based on the quoted prices to purchase
financial assets.

Some investments held for income generation or for sale, for which no quoted prices are available from external independent sources, are measured by the Bank at fair value through
other comprehensive income based on a recent purchase of similar debt securities to a non-related lhird party, analysis of other information such as discounted cash flows and financial
information on investee, and on any other valuation techniques.

Various valuation lechniques can be used depending on the situation. Investments in equity instruments that do not have quoted market prices are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Unrealised income and expenses resulting from a change in fair value of financial assets held for income generation or for sale are recorded in the statement of changes in equity.

Upon disposal of financial assets held for income generation or for sale, the relevant accumulated unrealised income and expenses are included in the statement of profit and loss.
Impaiment and recovery of earlier impaired value of financial assets held for income generation or for sale are recorded threugh other comprehensive income.

The value of financial assels held for income generation or for sale is reduced if their cammying amount exceeds their estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
current cost of the expected cash flows discounted by the curent market price of a similar financial asset.

Under usual settlement conditions, purchase and sale of financial assels held for income generation or for sale are recorded on the iransaction date, i.e. on the date when the Bank
shall purchase or sell this assel. (Altemalively, the Bank may recognise them as at the settlement date).

All olher purchases and sales are recorded as forward Iransactions until setilements are made.

4.12 Financial Assefs Held for Income Generation

This group includes financial assets with fixed malurity that the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold to malurity. The Bank classifies financial assets on the acquisition date.
The Bank assesses its intention and ability to hold the financial assets classified as held for income generafion to maturity as at each reporting date, but not only at initial recognition of
such financial assets.

Financial assets held for income generation are initially recognised at amortised cost using the effeciive interest method less provision for expected credit losses, which is 1he difference
between the carrying amount and the current cost of the estimaled future cash flows discounted by the original effeclive interest rate.

Interest income from financial assets held for income generation is recorded in the statement of profit and loss as interest income from financial assets held for income generation,

Under usual settlement conditions, purchase and sale of financial assets held for income generation are recorded on the transaction date, i.e. on the date when the Bank shall purchase
or sell his asset. All other purchases and sales are recorded as forward iransactions until setilements are made.

4.13 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at acquisition cost or at revalued amount, as noted below, less accumulated depreciation and impairment provision (where necessary).

If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable cost, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable cost, and the difference is recorded in the
stalement of profit and loss. The estimated recoverable cost is the highest of fair value of the asset less sales cost and vanﬁ‘—’%g?e’ﬂ
Y i ability company

(
If an individual fixed asset is revaluated, then the entire group of property, plant and equipment, to which this asset betJ}xgs. shall be also revFlB K >
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The group of property, plant and equipment is revaluated simultaneously in order to exclude a possibility of a selective revaluation of assets and to present the items being the sum of
property, plant and equipment at actual cost and at revalued cost on different dates in the financial statements. However, the group of asseis may be revaluated according to a flexible
schedule if it is revaluated within a short period and the resulls are continuously updated.

The Bank assesses any signs of impairment of property, plant and equipment at each reporiing date. If there are such signs, the Bank assesses the recoverable amount as net
realisable value of property, plant and equipment or as value in use, whichever is greater.

If the camying amount of property, plant and equipment exceeds their estimated recoverable amount, the camying amount of property, plant and equipment is reduced to their
recoverable amount, and the difference is recorded in the statement of profit and loss as impairment loss of property, plant and equipment unless they are previously revaluated. In this
case, revaluation surplus is excluded, and any additional loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised with respect to property, plant and equipment in prior years
are reversed, when there are any changes in eslimates used to determine the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment.

Profit and loss resulting from disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined on the basis of their cammying amount and are recorded when calculating the profit {loss} amount.
Costs on repair and maintenance are recorded in the statement of profit and loss when incurred.
4.14 Depreciation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the siraight-line method, i.e. evenly decreasing the initial or revalued cost down fo net book value during next
estimated periods of useful life of the assets

Pool of property, plant and equipment Useful life
Buildings from 10 to 50 years
Fumniture and equipment from 5 {o 20 years
Computers and office equipment from 2 to 5 years

Net book value of an asset is the eslimated amount that the Bank would have received for the time being if the asset had been sold less the expected costs on disposal, if the condition
and lifetime of the asset had corresponded to the lifetime and condition the asset would have had at the end of its useful life. Net book value of an asset is zero if the Bank intends to
use the asset up lo the end of its physical life. Net book value of assets and their useful lives are reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted as at each reporting date.

Asset depreciation starts when it is available for use, i.e. when the location and condition of the asset allow using it according to the Bank's intention. Depreciation is derecognised at
the date when the asset is derecognised.

4.15 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets of the Bank, except for business reputation, have a certain useful life of 5 to 10 years and mainly include capitalised software. Acquired and recognised intangible
assets are capitalised on the basis of expenses from purchase and integration of such assets. After initial recognition, intangible assets are recognised at the acquisition cost less
amorlisalion and impairment losses accrued. Intangible assets are amortised according to the straight-line method and evaluated for the purpose of impairment if there are signs of
polential impairment of such assets.

4.16 Bonowed Funds

Bormrowed funds include customer accounts, due from financial institutions (including the Bank of Russia), subordinated deposils {loans), and other borrowed funds.
Borrowed funds are recognised at amortised cost and the difference between the oblained amount and the repayment amount is accounted for in the statement of profit and loss within
the lending period with the use of the effective interest method.

4.17 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial liabilities at fair value threugh profit or loss include derivative financial instruments, including exchange contracts. All derivative financial instruments are accounted for as
assets if fair value of such instruments is positive or as liabilities if their fair value is negalive. Any changes in the fair value of derivative financial insirumenis are recognised as
income/expenses. The Bank does not apply hedge accounting.

4.18 Trade and Other Account Payables
Account payables are recognized by the Bank upon fulfilment of its obligations by the counterparty and are accounted for at amortised cost.

4.19 Share Capital and Share Premium

Share capital is recognised at initial cost adjusted to the purchasing power equivalent of a Russian ruble as at 31 December 2002, for contributions to the share capital made before 1
January 2003. Costs direclly atiributable to the issue of new shares are recognised as a decrease in the shareholders' equity.

Share premium is conltributions 1o the share capilal in excess of the nominal value of the issued shares.
4.20 Dividends

Dividends declared after the balance sheet date are recorded in the note on subsequent events. Dividend payments and other profit distribution are made on the basis of the net profit
for the current year according to the financial statements prepared in compliance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

If dividends are declared for holders of equity instruments after the reporiing date, such dividends are not recognised as liabilities as at the reporting date.

Dividends are recerded when they are approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders (General Meeting of Members) and are reported as distribution of profit.
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4.21 Income and Expense Recognition

Interest income and expense are calculated using the effective inlerest method. Interest income and expense are recorded as debt instruments at amortised cost or at FVTOCI on an
accrual basis using the effective interest method. This method takes into account all payments received or made between the parties to the transaction as part of interest income or
expense and as an integral part of ihe effective interest rate, transaction costs, premiums, or discounts. When calculating fair value, the effective interest methad is not applied if the
largest difference in accrued interest income {expense) between interest income (expense) calculated using the effective interest method and interest income (expense) calculated
using the straight-line method does not exceed 10%.

Payments that are an integral part of the effective interest rate include commission fees received or paid by the Bank and related to originalion or purchase of a financial asset or
issuance of a financial liability, for example, fees for credit scoring, appraisal and registration of guarantees or a pledge, negotialions on the terms of an instrument and for processing of
transaction documents. Commission fees received by the Bank for issuing loans at market interest rates are an integral part of the effective interest rate if there is a probability that the
Bank will enter inte a specific loan agreement, but it does not expect to sell the loan received shorlly after its origination. The Bank does not designate loan obligations as financial
liabilities at FVTPL.

For financial assets arising from purchase of impaired loans, the effective interest rate is the rate reducing the expected cash flows (including inilial expected credit losses) down to the
fair value at initial recognition (usually represented as a purchase price). As a result, the effective interest is adjusted for the counterparty’s credit worthiness.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 1o the gross camying amount of financial assets, except for:

- Financial assets that became impaired loans (stage 3), for which interest income is calculated by applying the effeclive interest rate to their amoriised cost (less provision for expected
credit losses (ECL));

- Financial assets that were purchased or issued as impaired, for which the current interest rate adjusted for the credit worthiness and effective for amortised cost is applied.

Other interest income and expense are interest income and expense recorded as debt instruments at FVTOCI and are reported on an accrual basis using the nominal interest rate.

Fee and commission income and expense All other fees, commissions, and other income and expense items are usually recorded on an accrual basis within the period, when the
services are provided to customers that simultaneously receive and consume the rewards provided by the results of the Bank's activilies, usually on a siraight-line basis.

Commissions resulting from the negotiations or participation in the negotiations on a transaction for a third party, such as purchase of loans, shares or other securities or purchase or
sale of a business, which are gained when the Bank performs obligations to execute them, are recorded upon closing. Administraiive, consulting, and service fees are recognised
based on the applicable service contracts within the period, when the services are provided to customers that simultaneously receive and consume the rewards provided by the resulls
of the Bank's activities, usually on a straight-line basis. Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised within the period, when the services are provided, since a
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the rewards provided by the results of the Bank's activilies, usually on a straight-line basis. The same principle applies to capital
management, financial planning, and custodial services, which are continuously provided for a long period.

4.22 Income Tax

The financial statements recognise tax expenses in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Federation.

Income tax expense (recovery) in the statement of profit and loss for the year includes current taxes and changes in deferred taxes. Current iax is calculated on the basis of the
expected laxable profit for the year with income 1ax rates applicable as at the balance sheet date. Tax expenses, apart from income tax expenses, are recognised in administrative and
other operaling expenses.

Deferred income tax is calculated on the basis of the balance assels and liabilities method in relation to all temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabililies and their
camying amount in accordance with the financial statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are identified with the use of faxalion rates that are supposed lo be effective within the
period when the assets will be realised and the liabilities repaid, on the basis of tax rales set during the current period or actually set as at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is likely to receive taxable income against which temporary differences can be used.

Deferred tax arising from revalualion at fair value of financial assets at FWVTOCI, with revaluation results credited or charged to equily, is also recognised direclly in equity. VWhen these
financial assels are disposed of, the respective amounts of deferred income tax are reflected in the statement of profit and loss.

Carrying amount of the deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and decreased 1o the extent, fo which gaining of sufficient faxable income that will allow using
all or part of defemred tax assets is not probable anymore. Non-recagnised deferred 1ax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognised to the extent, to which it
is probable that fulure taxable income will allow using deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against one another if there is a legal right to offset current tax
assels and liabilities and deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority.

4.23 Dernivafives

Derivalive financial instruments, including exchange contracts, interest rate futures, forward rate agreements, foreign exchange and interest rale swaps, foreign exchange and interest
rate options and other derivative financial instruments, are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value through profit or loss {which is, as a rule, an acquisition cost, including
transactions cosis).

Fair value is calculated based on quoted market prices, cash flow discounting models, models of pricing for oplions or spot exchange rates at the end of the year depending on the type
of a fransaction. All derivative financial instruments are accounted as assets if their fair value is positive or as liabilities if their fair value is negative.
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Derivative financial instruments are recorded in item “Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments” of the balance sheet if fair value of such derivative financial instrument is
positive or in item “Negative fair value of derivative financial instruments” if fair value of such financial instrument is negative.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are attributed to income less expenses from transactions with foreign cumencies, income less expenses from transaclions
wilh financial assels at fair value through profit or loss, and income less expenses from lransactions with precious metals depending on the type of a transaction.

Some derivative financial instruments embedded in other financial instruments such as a conversion option embedded in a convertible bond are separated from the underlying confract
if their risks and economic characteristics do not closely relate to the risks and economic characteristics of the underlying contract and the underlying contract is not recognised at fair
value reflecling unrealised income and expenses in the statement of profit and loss.

The Bank is not engaged in transactions defined as hedging instruments under IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments®.

4.24 Estimated Liabilities

Estimated liabilities are recognised when the Bank has liabilities (legal or due to business practice) arisen prior to the reporling date. To settle these liabilities, outflow of economic
resources is highly probable and the amount of the liabilities can be reasonably assessed.

4.25 Related Party Transaclions

The Bank is engaged into related party transactions. Parties are alse considered to be related when one of them can control the other, is under common control together with the other
party, is under control of the other party and a third party and can exercise significant influence on the other party’s financing and operating decisicns.

When considering relations with related pariies, the Bank takes into account not only legal, but also economic aspects of such relations.

4.26 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations

New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments

Since the issue date of the Bank's latest annual financial statements, no new standards or interpretations that are mandatory for annual reporting periods beginning after 1 January
2018 were issued, except for the standards and interpretations disclosed in the Bank's annual financial statements.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

IFRS 9 supersedes IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” for annual reperting periods beginning on er after 1 January 2018. The Bank did not recalculate the
comparalive information for 2017 on financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9. Therefore, the comparative information for 2017 is shown in accordance with IAS 39 and cannot
be compared with the information for 2018. The differences arising from the adopfion of IFRS 9 were recognized directly in refained eamnings as at 1 January 2018.

(a) Classification and measurement

According to IFRS 9, all debt financial assets that do not meet criterion of being “solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding™ (SPPI) are classified at
inilial recognition as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. Pursuant to such criterion, any debt instruments that do not meet the definition of a “basic loan agreement”,
such as instruments embodying converlibility option, or nen-recourse loans are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Bank has no investmenls in securilies, and also there
are no instruments embodying convertibility option. All debt financial assets and debt financial liabilities of the Bank that correspond to the Bank's “to hold and to sell” business model,
pursuant to IFRS 9, are recorded at fair value lhrough other comprehensive income. All debt financial assets and debt financial obligations that correspond to the Bank's “to hold an
asset to collect contraciual cash flows" business model, pursuant to IFRS 9, are recorded at amorlised cost. These debt instruments do not meet criterion of being “solely paymentis of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding™ (SPPI). Thus, the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities remained unchanged as compared to the
requirements of IAS 39.

(b) Impairment

The entry of IFRS 9 into force principally changes the Bank's approach to accounting of loan impaimment. Instead of an incurred loss approach pursuant to IAS 39, a forward-looking
approach requiring recognition of expected credit losses (ECL) is introduced. Since 1 January 2018, the Bank recognizes the provision for expected credit losses on all loans and other
debt financial assels that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss as well as on loan commitments and financial guarantee agreements (hereinafter jointly referred to in this
section as the “financial instruments”). The requirements of IFRS 9 for impairment do not apply to equity financial instrumens.

Provision for ECL is calculated based on lifelime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL) if there is no significant increase in the credit risk since recognition; otherwise, provision is
calculated based on 12-month expected credit losses {12-month ECL). 12-month ECL are a part of lifetime ECL representing ECL arising from defaults on a financial instrument that
may occur within 12 months after the reporling date. Lifelime ECL and 12-menth ECL are calculated either individually or on a group basis, depending on the nature of lhe baseline
porifolio of financial instruments.

The Bank approved a policy to assess whether there has been a significant increase in lhe credit risk for a financial instrument since its inilial recognition by analysing changes in the
risk of default arising during the remaining life of the financial instrument.

The Bank forms impairment provisions for all groups of financial assels, except for those measured at fair value through profit or loss.

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Bank eslimates impairment of the financial asset as 12-month expected credit losses. As to the Bank’s commitments to provide loans fo
borrowers without a right of subsequent reversal, the date of initial recognition for applying the requirements to impairment is the date of the relevant contract.

As at each reporiing date, for each financial instrument or group of financial instruments (falling within the scepe of pertfolic management), the Bank assesses the credit risk:
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« If the credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognition for a financial instrument or a group of financial instruments, the Bank forms an estimated provision in the
amount of 12-month expecled credit losses on a financial instrument or a group of financial insiruments.

If the credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition for a financial instrument or a group of financial instruments, the Bank forms an estimated provision in the amount of
lifetime expected credit losses on a financial instrument or a group of financial instruments.

* Ifitis less than 12 months to maturity of a financial instrument, the Bank forms an eslimated provision for the instrument in the amount of expected credit losses to its maturity.

« If, on the reporling dale, the credit risk for a financial instrument is low, the Bank assumes that the credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognition for a financial
instrument.

If, during the previous reporting period, the Bank estimated Lhe estimated provision for losses on a financial instrument in the amount equal to lifetime expecled credit losses, but, as at
the current reporiing date, the credit risk on the financial instrument decreased so that there is no significant increase in the credit risk as compared to initial recognition, as at the current
reporting date, the Bank estimates the estimated provision in the amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

In order to assess whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition for a financial instrument, the Bank is guided by a change in the risk of default over the
expecied lifelime of a financial instrument (not by a change in the amount of expected credit losses).

For loan commitments, the Bank considers changes in the risk of default on a loan, to which the loan commitment relates.

The risk of default of financial instruments is assessed within the risk assessment medels formed according to the business models. The Bank assesses the risk of default on a group
basis or individually (if the number of financial instruments is insufficient fo assess them on a group basis). Whether to use a group or individual assessment method is determined when
approving a business model for managing a financial instrument in accordance with the Methods for Determining Provisions for Impairment of the Bank's Financial Assets. When
forming groups of financial instruments, the Bank does not include financial instruments having different risk characteristics in one group, and lhe groups are formed so that the number
of financial instruments is sufficient to obtain valid results.

If the available qualilative and non-statistical quantitative information on a financial instrument is sufficient to determine whether the criterion for recognising an eslimated loss provision
in the amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses is met for a financial instrument, then statistical models or credit raling procedures do not apply to this financial instrument to
determine whether there is a significant increase in the credit risk for the financial instrument.

For financial instruments measured on a group basis, the risk of default is assessed based on the information on past due payments taking into account ihe forecast macroeconomic
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

For financial instruments measured individually, the risk of default is assessed both using the information on past due payments on a financial instrument and using the information on
the borrower (his/herfits financial standing, actual debt restructuring, etc.), which is available wilhout undue costs and effort.

If reasonable and supportable forecast information is available without undue cost or effort, the Bank does not rely solely upon the information on past due payments when determining
whether the credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition. However, when information that is more predictable than the status of past due payments {(whether individually
or on a group basis) is not available without undue cost or effort, the Bank uses lhe information on past due payments when determining whether the credit risk has increased
significanlly since inilial recognilion. The Bank assumes that the credit risk for a financial instrument has increased significantly if the contraciual payments are more than 30 days past
due (within the approved business models, this peried may be reduced for paricular business models).

Metheds used to determine whether the credit risk has significantly increased for a financial instrument since initial recognition take into account lhe characteristics of a financial
instrument {or a group of financial instruments) and occurrences of defaults during the previous periods for comparable financial instruments.

When determining a default to determine the risk of default, the Bank assumes that a default on a financial instrument occurs either if this financial instrument is more than 90 days past
due or if the borrower enters bankruplcy (even if the instrument is less than 90 days past due).

Eslimate of expected losses.

The Bank estimates expected credit losses on a financial instrument using the method reflecting:

(a) An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating the range of possible outcomes;

(b) The time value of money; and

(c) Reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions, and forecasis of future econoemic conditions available at the reporting date without undue cost or
efiort.

The period under consideration when assessing expecled credit losses is the maximum coniractual period (including options to renew), during which the Bank is exposed to the credit
risk, but not a longer period, even if it corresponds to the business practice.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighled estimate of credit losses (i.e. present value of all expected cash shortfalls) during the expected lifetime of a financial instrument. Cash
shortfalls is a difference between the contractual cash flows due lo the Bank and the cash flows the Bank expecls to gain. Since expected credit losses take into account the amount
and dates of payments, the credit loss occurs even if the Bank expects to collect the full amount, but later than provided for by lhe conlract.

In case of a credil-impaired financial asset as at the reporting date, which is not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset, the Bank estimates expected credit losses as a
difference between the gross carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted by the original effeclive interest rate on the financial
asset. Any adjustment is recognised within profit or loss as profit or loss from impaiment.

Losses from financial asset impairment accounted for by the amortised cost are recognized in the stalement of profit and loss when they arise from one or more events (loss events)
occurring after the initial financial asset recognition.
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The Bank aveids, but does not exclude occurrence of losses from impairment at initial recognition of financial assets.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and lhe decrease can be objeclively related to an evenl occurring after lhe impairment loss has been
recognised (such as improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the created provisicn in the statement of profit and
loss.

Financial assets that cannot be matured and for which all necessary procedures have been completed for the purpose of full or pariial recovery and the final amount of the loss have
been determined are written off against the provision for impairment.

The main criteria for wriling off impaired financial assets against provision are:

- The Bank takes all necessary and appropriate steps to collect this debt that arise from law, business customs or a confract.

- Writing off uncollectable debt is reasonable if there are documents supporting the aciual non-performance by the debtor of the obligations to the Bank within the period of at least one
year before the date of decision on debt writing off.

- There are reports of state authorities proving the uncollectability of debt.

Losses from impairment of financial assets at FVTOCI are recognised in the statement of profit and loss when incurred as a result of one or more events (loss events) occurring after
inilial recognilion of financial asset at FVTOCI.

- Significant or prolonged decline in fair value of equity security at FVTOCI below its acquisition cost is a sign of its impaimment. If there are any signs of impairment, the cumulative loss
determined as a difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value less impairment loss of this asset, which was initially recognised in the profit and loss accounts, is
carried over from equity to the profit and loss accounts. Losses from impairment of equity instruments are not reversed {hrough profit and loss; an increase in fair value after impairment
is recognised directly within equity.

For debt instruments at FVTOCI, the instrument is assessed for signs of impairment according to the same criteria (loss events) as for financial assets at amortised cost. The loss
amount that shall be reclassified into the stalement of profit and loss is equal to the difference between the acquisition value (less principal repayment amounts and with account of
deprecialion of assets assessed with the effective interest method) and the current fair value of the asset less impairment losses previously recognized in the statement of profit and
loss. If, in a subsequent reporting period, fair value of debt instrument at FVTOCI increases and such increase may be objeclively related to the event occurring after recognition of the
impairment loss in the profit and loss accounts, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss of the current reporiing period.

The reconciliation of the carrying amount in accordance with IAS 39 and the balances recorded in accordance with IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 is shown below:

As at 31 December 2017 (in accordance with I1AS As at 31 December 2017 (in Revaluation due As at1 January 2018
39/37) accordance with IAS 39/37) Reclassification due to IFRS 9 to IFRS 9 (IFRS 9)

Due from banks, loan and advances to customers, 45167 - (1130) 46 297

receivables, pursuant fo IAS 39, measured at

amorlised cost pursuant to IFRS 9

Other financial assels G494 B 3 549
50 661 - {1127) 51788

TOTAL

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contfracts with Customers”

IFRS 15 published in May 2014 and amended in Aprsil 2016 establishes a five-step model of recognition of revenue under coniracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognized in an amount reflecting the reimbursement that the organization expecis lo receive in retum for the transfer of goods or services to the buyer. This standard does not apply
lo revenues from financial instruments and leasing contracts and, accordingly, does not affect most of the Bank’s revenue items, including interest income, profit/(loss) from transactions
in securities and income under leasing agreements, to which IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments™ and IAS 17 “Leases” apply. As a result, application of this standard will have no effect on
most of the Bank's income.

Prior to adoption of IFRS 15, variable consideration was assessed based on the hislorical data. In accordance with IFRS 15, revenue is recognized only to the extent that there is a high
probability of a significant decrease in revenue after resolving the uncertainty associated with variable consideration. The Bank applied this requirement, when estimating variable
consideration, and concluded that the effect on the financial statements is not material.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases”

IFRS 16 “Leases” was issued in January 2016 and replaces IAS 17 “Leases”, IFRIC Interpretation 4 “Determining Whether an Armrangement Contains a Lease”, SIC Interpretation 15
“Operaling Leases — Incentives® and SIC Interpretation 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions in the Legal Form of a Lease”. IFRS 16 establishes principles for ihe recognition,
assessment, presentation and disclosure of lease information and requires that tenants record all leases using a unified accounting model in the balance sheet, similar to the accounting
treatment provided for in IAS 17 for finance leases. The standard provides for two exemptions from recognition for tenants — for leasing assets with low cost (for example, personal
computers) and short-term leases (i.e. leases with a period of not more than 12 months). IFRS 16 becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early
adoption of the standard is permitted provided that IFRS 15 “Revenue from Confracts with Customers” will also be applied. The Bank does not intend to apply this standard ahead of
schedule. The Bank is in the process of assessing the possible impact of IFRS 16 on iis financial statements.

IFRIC Interpretation 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” (effeclive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The ambiguity regarding the interpretation of
the norms of the tax legislation may influence the Bank's accounting of current or deferred tax assets or liabilities. The Interpretation clarifies how to apply the requirements of IAS 12
“Income Taxes" o recognition and measurement, when there is uncerainty over income tax treatments. In this case, the organizalion must recognize and assess its current and
deferred tax assets or liabilities on the basis of taxable profit (fax loss), tax base, unused tax losses, unused tax benefits and tax rates delermined in accordance with this Interpretation.
The Bank expects that adoption of these amendments will not have a material effect on the financial statements of the Bank.

[ Liciived linbility company
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

5 Interest Income and Expense

Interest income and expense are as follows:

For 2018 For 2017

Interest income on assets at amortised cost

Accounts receivable under repo agreements 125 569 125 405

Loans to cusiomers 2150 2625

Other 103 70
Total interest income on financial assets at amortized cost 127 822 128 100

interest income on assels at fair value through other comprehensive income

On financial assets held for income generation or for sale 130 573 117 217
Total interest income on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 130 573 117 217
Total interest income 258 395 245 317
Interest expense on labilities at amortised cost

Accounts payable under repo agreements (51 411) (29 477)

Accounts and deposits of customers being legal entities (50 076) (43 750)

Deposits of custemers being individuals (1145) (e86)

Other (1 865) {1 592)
Total interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost (104 497) {75 805)
interest expenses on liabililies at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale (9 505) {6 386)
Total interest expense on financial liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income {9 505) (6 386)
Total interest expense (114 002) {82 191)
Net interest income 144 393 163 126

6 Provisions for Impairment and Other Provisions
Provisions for impairment recerded in the profit and loss accounts include contributions made during the current year to form provisions based on the ECL model under IFRS 9.

The change in provisions for 2018 is as follows:

Lifetime Rutetias
ECL Lifetime ed or Net change in
Balance as at 31 12-month —  ECL— originate provision for
December 2017 EcL . ™" impaired d expected credit Balance for 2018
impaired . -
assets impaired losses
assets
assets
Assessed at amortized cost:
Due from financial institutions 45 247 (37 437) - - - (37 437) 7810
Loans fo customers 1050 {680) - - - (680) 370
Cash except for that due from the Bank of R 8 a8 8
Russia - - -
Other - % - - - = -
Total change in provision for expected
credit losses on interest bearing assets 46.207 (38 109} " " - (38 109) 8188
Other 5491 (4114) - - - “4114) 1377
Change in other provisions and change in
estimated liabililies 5491 @114 - - - “ng 1377
Total change in provision for ECL and i Lioited Jebiln
other provisions 1788 (42 223) - ; wited jisbility company (42 223) 9 65
B N
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

The change in provisions for impaimment calculated in accordance with the incurred loss model under IFRS 9 in 2017 was as follows:

Balance as at 31 December

Write-offs from provision

Income from
recovery of
provisions for
impairment less

Balance as at 31

2016 % December 2017

expense on creation

of provisions for

impairment
Due from financial institutions 20 868 - {23 249) 44 117
Loans to customers 1812 - 762 1 050
Change in other provisions and change in estimated liabilities 8 368 - 2874 5494
Total change in provisions for impairment 31048 - {19 613) 50 661

7 Income Less Expenses from Transactions with Financial Assets and Liabilities

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Fair value Fair value
adjustment and Sold from resale and Total adjustment and Sold from resale Total
repayment and repayment
revaluation revaluation
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6611 - 6611 - - -
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale - {9 205) (9 205) - 15861 15 861
Income from use of embedded derivatives 4 370 - 4370 - - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through prefit or loss (11 199) - {11 199) {37 406) - (37 406)
Financial liabilities provided by financial institutions, legal
. fiide - 3 3 - - -
entities, and individuals
Dividends received 1 1 318 318
Total income less expenses from transactions with (218) (@ 201) (9 418) (37 408) 16179 {21 227)

financial assets and liabilities

As a result of changes in the accounting valualions for 2018, RUB 5,263 thousand were reclassified from item “Operating income” for 2017 into item “Income less expenses from

transaclions with financial assets and liabilities".

8 Fee and Commission Income and Expense

Fee and commission income and expenses are as follows:

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Fee and commission income

Brokerage 205 650 127 338
Market maker services 21 967 36933
Accounts maintenance and servicing 9 001 4393
Custody transactions 8944 3416
Maintenance of internal records 3309 -
Other 920 801
Total fee and commission income 249791 172 881
Fee and commission expense
Brokerage (100 674) (92 746)
Custody transactions {5 099) (2 650)
Seltlements {2310) (2 092)
Exchange transactions . 7 733) (5 759)
Other i ted liability company _(254) rSat)
Total fee and commission expense P (116 119) {104 )

Total fee and commission income and expense

6 2
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

9 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses are as follows:

2018 2017
Staff costs 151 326 124 767
Salaries and bonuses 121 679 101 285
Expenses associated with property, plant and equipment (maintenance, repair, sale, write-down of property, 31 626 3564
plant and equipment)
Obligatory insurance contributions to non-budgetary funds 20 647 23 482
Communications services 9683 7624
Other information services 8878 2820
Taxes and duties other than income tax 8511 21185
Amortization and deprecialion 7308 6116
Right to use intellectual aclivity items 6 591 5473
Software support and maintenance services 5781 5616
Other expenses on other invested or borrowed funds 3 658 2936
Operating lease expense 2701 3815
Inventories writing-off 1609 1932
Professional services 664 788
Insurance 266 299
Security costs 249 226
Business fravel expenses 94 285
Advertising and marketing 51 77
Hospitality expenses 2 -
Other operaling expenses 3925 3895
Total administrative and other operating expenses 242923 191 398
10 Income Tax
Income tax comprises as follows.

2018 2017
Current income tax (expense) / recovery 12918 22772
Changes in deferred taxes due to occurrence and writing off of temporary differences 17 926 (3 766)
{Expense) / Income tax recovery 30 844 19 006
The current income tax rate applicable to the largest part of the Bank's profit for 2018 is 20% (2017 20%).
Estimated tax expenses and actual tax expenses are compared below.

2018 2017
{Expense) / Income tax recovery 30 844 19 006
Estimated tax deductions {recovery} at the rate of 20% (6 169) {3 801)

Other permanent difference 37013 22 807

(Expense) / Income tax recovery 30 844 19 006

Differences between IFRS and tax legislation of the Russian Federation {and other countries) give rise to temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and calculation of income tax. The tax consequences of the movement of these temporary differences for 2018 and 2017 presented below are recorded at
the rate of 20% (20% in 2017), except for income from state (municipal) securilies and bonds of Russian entities (except for bonds of foreign entities recognised as tax residents of the
Russian Federation), which, as at the relevant dates of recognition of interest income from them, are recognised as traded en the organized securities market, deneminated in Russian
rubles and issued during the peried from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021 inclusively, taxable at the rate of 15%, 9%, 0% (2017: 15%, 9%, 0%).

11 Earnings (Loss) per Share

Basic eamings (loss) per share is calculaled by dividing net profit or less attributable to ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year

less average number of ordinary shares repurchased by the Bank.

The Bank does not have dilutive potential ordinary shares. So, therefore, the diluted eamings per share are equal to the basic eamings per share.

2018 2017
Eamings (Loss) attributable to shareholders holding ordinaty shares of the Bank 75614 75 956
Eamings (Loss) attributable to shareholders holding preference shares of the Bank
Earnings or loss for the year 75614 75956
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (in thousands) 56 490 56 490
Weighted average number of preference shares outstanding (in thousands) ] Cimied liability company 100 T
Basic and diluted eamings (loss) per erdinary share {in rubles per share) 1,34 ‘Tplﬂ
Basic and diluted eamnings (loss}) per preference share (in rubles per share) 7
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

12 Dividends

2018 2017
For ordinary and For ordinary and
preference shares preference shares
Dividends payable as af the beginning of the year - -
Dividends declared during the year 280337
Dividends paid during the year 279 582 -
Dividends payable as at the end of the reporting period 755 -

All dividends were declared and paid in the currency of the Russian Federation.

13 Cash and Cash Equivalents

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Cash on hand 25017 50 197
Balances on accounts with the Bank of Russia {other than mandatery reserve funds) 128 617 500 857
Funds on correspondent accounts 187 040 907 232

340 674 1 467 286

Total cash and cash equivalents

14 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss

Shares 58743 47 819
Total equity securities at fair value through profit or loss 58 743 47 819
58 743 47 819

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

15 Due from Financial Institutions

Due from financial instilulions is presented as broker's accounts and cash on stock exchange

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Correspondent accounts 68 68
Other accounts with financial institutions 411 041 404 304
Total due from financial institutions before provision for ECL 411 109 404 372
Provision for ECL {7 810) (44 117)

403 299 360 255

Total due from financial institutions

16 Loans and Advances to Customers

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Leans to individuals — consumer 13 559 20253
Total loans and advances to customers before provision for ECL 13 559 20 253
Provision for ECL {370) (1 050)
Total loans and advances to customers 13189 19 203

The structure of the Bank's loans is shown below:

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Amount % Amount %
Individuals 13 559 100,0% 20 253 100,0%
Total loans and advances to customers before provision 13 559 100,0% 20 253 100,0%
for ECL R . _
Provision for ECL (370) ~~{4-056)——
Total loans and ad t t 3189 -
vances to customers 131 - ﬂiy e
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

{thousand Russian rubles)

17 Financial Assets Held for Income Generation or for Sale

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Debt financial assefs al fair value through other comprehensive income

Bonded loans of the Russian Federation 921 395 917 382
Corporate Eurobonds 209 985 151914
Corporate bonds 453 952 516917
Total debt financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1 685 332 1585213
Total financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1 585332 1585213
The analysis of financial assets by credit quality held for income generation or for sale as at 31 December 2018 is set out below
Total debt
financial
assets at fair
Regional and municipal bonds Corporate Eurobonds  Corporate bonds Rramissony Loans valis
notes through
other
comprehensi
ve income
- rated above BBB - - - - - -
- rated from BBB- to BBB+ - 190 368 252 333 - - 442 700
- rated from BB- to BB+ = 2718 196 417 - - 199 136
- rated from B- to B+ - - 5202 - - 5202
- Unrated - 16 899 - - 16 899
Total financlal assets held for income
generation or for sale before provision for - 209 985 453 952 - - 663 937
ECL '
Bonded leans of the Russian Federation 921 385 - - - - 921 395
Total ﬁn.ancml assets held for income 921 395 209 985 453 952 ) 3 1 585 332
generation or for sale
Lu—nued iabillty company
E
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

The analysis of financial assets by credit quality held for income generatian or for sale as at 31 December 2017 is set out below

Total debt
financial
assets at fair
" i Promissory value
Regional and municipal bonds  Corporate Eurobonds Corporate bonds fiotes Loans through
other
comprehensi
ve income
- rated from BBB- to BBB+ - 114 871 166 795 - - 281 666
- rated from BB- to BB+ - 9619 255 905 - - 265524
- rated below B- - - 93 217 - - 93 217
- Unrated - 27 424 - - 27 424
Total financial assets held for income
generation or for sale before provision for - 151 914 515917 - - 667 831
ECL
Bonded loans of the Russian Federation 917 382 - - - - 917 382
Total financial assets held for income 917 382 151 914 515917 . ; 1585213

generation or for sale

Information on fair value of financial assets held for income generaticn or for sale is given in Note 27.

18 Other Assets

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Accounts receivable and advance payments 11 186 8255
Other 5094 3456
Provision for ECL (1377) (5 491)
Total other assets 14 903 6220

19 Due to Banks and Other Financial Institutions

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Other accounts of financial institutions

11 242

1133

Total due to financial institutions

11 242

1133

20 Customer Accounts

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Accounts of private entities

Current and settlement accounts 293 135 544 953
Fixed-term deposits 826 185 1750047
Total accounts of private entities 1119 320 2 295 000
Individual accounts

Current accounts 9763 22 106
Fixed-term deposits 24 846 18 545
Total individual accounts 34 609 40 651
Broker's accounts

Other customer accounts 1543 367 1063 197
Total broker's accounts 1543 367 1063197

Total customer accounts

Lot v
Limited liability company o cq+ 298

3 3& 848
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

{thousand Russian rubles)

21 Other Liabilities

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Accounts payable 131 055 26 259
Dividends payable 755 -
Accrued expenses on payment of remuneration fo staff 10 702 7172
Other liabilities 3813 21
Total other liabilities 146 325 33452

22 Share Capital and Share Premium

Nominal value of ordinary Nominal value of preference Inflation adjustment

shares shares for the share capital

31 December 2017 564 900 100 137 762

31 December 2018 564 900 100 137 762
Total share capital as at 31 December 2018 702762

The Bank's nominal registered issued share capital before adjusiment for share capital contributions made before 31 December 2018 fo the purchasing power equivalent of a Russian
ruble as at 31 December 2002 is RUB 137,762 thousand. As at 31 December 2018, all oulstanding shares of the Bank are declared, issued, and fully paid-up.

The share premium is the amount by which contributicns to the capital exceed the nominal value of shares in issue.

23 Risk Management

The Bank manages the following financial risks:
— Credit risk
— Liquidity risk
— Market risk

The principal task of financial risk management is 1o establish and te ensure further adherence lo risk limils, The assessment of assumed risk also forms the basis for optimal allocation
of capital taking into account risks, formation of pricing for transaclions and assessment of performance. Management of operational, legal, reputational, and regulatory risks should
ensure due compliance with the intemal regulations and procedures to mitigate such risks.

The priorily is to ensure the maximum soundness of assets and capital through minimizaticn of exposure {o risks thal may result in unexpected losses. Al risks that may adversely affect
the Bank's meeting ils objeclives are recognised and assessed on a regular basis. This approach applies to all risks assumed by the Bank in the course of its business (credit risk,
liquidity risk, operating risk, market risk, legal risk, country risk, repulational risk, siralegy risk).

In 2018, risks at lhe Bank were managed in accordance with the scale and nature of the Bank's aclivilies as well as taking into account the recommendations of the Bank of Russia and
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision under the eslablished risk and capital management system.

Established procedures and methods for managing significant risks are an essential element of the strategy, one of the main lines of the aclivities, and a key part of the management
decision making system at the Bank.

Management of and control over risks and capital adequacy censidered by the Bank's management are an important aspect in the Bank's management and its transactions.
Approaches to amanging the risk and capital management system are determined in the Risk and Capital Management Strategies of PJSC Besl Efforts Bank for 2017-2018 adopted
and approved by the Board of Directors.

Risk management processes are regulated by the accepted PJSC Best Efforts Bank Banking Risk and Capital Management Policy, which establishes the principles of the organization
of the risk management system and establishes uniform management standards.

In order to idenlify potential risks, to which the Bank may be exposed, and risks inherent to the Bank's activilies, a procedure fo identify risks significant to the Bank is performed on a
regular basis.

Based on the resulls of risk identification, the Bank groups the identified risks according fo the degree of materiality of their impact on the Bank's financial strength and, depending on it,
builds processes for managing significant risks on an individual and aggregated basis as well as establishes capilal requirements for their coverage.

As part of the risk and capital management system, the Bank determines the most significant risks related to financial ones based on the adopled classification, nature and scale of
aclivities, which include:

* Risk of liquidity loss (liquidity risk);

« Credit risk;

* Market risk;

+ Interest rate risk;

* Operational risk;

» Concentration risk.

The Bank classifies these types of risks as significant in accordance with the adopted Banking Risk and Capital Management Policy. This Policy determines classification of the risks, (o
which the Bank is exposed, and the amount of capital required lo cover lhem, which meets the requirements of Directive 3624-U.

As part of effective risk management, the Bank pays special atention to the distribution of powers and responsibilities between the Bank's structural units (empfoyees of the Bank) and
the Bank's management bodies for risk managing and their compliance wilh the requirements of the legislation of the Russigg gra 2 Ba

One of the principles for forming the Bank's organizational struciure is to ensure ongoing moniloring of banking fransactions
one of the lines of the Bank’s internal control system.
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There are three risk management levels in the Bank's organizational structure:

« Bank's management;

«+ Unit in charge of risk management;

« Structural units and officials.

The Board of Directors performs a strategic management of the Bank, determines basic principles and approaches to arangement of the risk management and intemal control system
in the Bank, controls activities of the Bank's execulive bodies and performs other key functions in accordance with the Articles of Association and intemal documents of the Bank.

The competence of the Bank's Management Board includes implementation of the risk and capital management strategy and pelicy approved by the Bank's Beard of Directors and
other issues falling within the scope of the risk and capital management system.

The Bank’s Management Board may delegate risk management issues falling within its competence to the collegial working bodies (the Bank's committees).

In order to implement risk regulaling processes and risk management principles, the Bank created the following commiliees:

+ Credit Committee (CC)

+ Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALMC)

The main objective of the aclivities of the Credit Committee is to develop recommendations on the Bank's credit policy and to lower credit risks.

The main objective of the aclivities of the Assefs and Liabilittes Management Committee is to determine the Bank's policy in managing and controlling banking liquidity and to lower
banking risks.

In order to effectively perform organizational and control functions by the Board of Directors for banking risk management, the Bank has formed a structural unit — the Risk Control
Depariment responsible for coerdinating banking risk management and performing the functions imposed on it by the intemal regulatory documents.

The Bank's structural units are responsible for identifying risks arising in the course of transactions that are core to the unit. All structural units of the Bank monitor the level of risks of
banking aclivilies arising when lhey are achieving their goals and objectives. Confrol over the level of banking risks in the Bank's structural units is aimed at limiling and mitigating them
as well as at ensuring the procedure for performance of the functions of the Bank's employees, subject to the requirements of the cument legislation, stalutory acts of the Bank of
Russia, professional codes of conduct, business rules and intemal regulating documents.

— Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial losses of the Bank if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Bank manages its credit risk through approved policies and
procedures that include requirements to establish and observe credit risk conceniration limits, as well as through cumrent Credit Committee and ALMC that are responsible for making
decisions on credit risk regulation and for control over compliance with internal limits and norms.

Key elements of effeclive credit risk management were a developed credit policy and procedures, portfolio management, effective control over loans.

When managing the credit risk, the Bank is guided by the adopted Credit Policy of PJSC Best Efforts Bank for 2017-2018, under which the Bank:
« Identifies credit risks inherent to the Bank's activities;

« Identifies potential credit risks, to which the Bank may be exposed;

« Assesses credit risks;

+ Monitors the scope of risks (including credit one) significant to the Bank;

+ Ensures compliance with the mandatory ratios established by the Bank of Russia as well as control over the credit risk level.

The Credit Policy accepted by the Bank regulates the Bank's credit operations and other operations containing the credit risk that are carried cut with retail and corporate clients,
including different kinds of short-term and long-term lending, issue of guarantees and letters of credit, acceptance of guarantees as collateral for liabilities of corporate clients,
acceplance of letters of credit.

The procedures for managing credit risk are determined in the Bank's intemal documents and include:

+ Procedure for granting loans and making decisions about their issue;

+* Methods for determining and procedure for establishing fimits (risk limit per borrower (group of related borrowers), risk limit by economic aclivity of borrowers, other limits);
» Methods for assessing risk of a counterparty (i.e., risk of a counterparty's default befere completion of setllements under the transaction), including methods for assessing financial
standing of counterparties (borrowers), loan quality, and for determining equity {capital) requirements;

+ Requirements for securing performance of the obligatiens of counterparties (borrowers) and methods for its evaluation.

The Bank uses the following credit risk management methods:

* Credit risk analysis and assessment for specific credit products;

« Non-acceptance of the credit risk at the stage preceding the transactions exposed to the credit risk;

« Implementation of uniform risk assessment and identification processes;

* Planning of the credit risk level through expected loss level assessment;

« Limitation of the credit risk by setling limits and/or limiting risk as well as limitatien of authorities;

+ Formation of provisions for possible loan losses;

+ Management of collateral for credit products;

+ Management of bad debts;

+ Credit risk level menitoring and control;

The Bank continuousfy monitors the performance of individual credit exposures and regularly reassesses the creditworthiness of its customers. The review is based on the customer's
financial statements and other informalion submitted by the borrower, or otherwise obtained by the Bank.

v) Provision for Expected Credit Losses

The Bank forms a provision for expected credit losses, which reflects the Bank's estimales of losses on the credit porifolio.

The Bank writes off a loan (and the relevant impairment provision) if the loan is classified as uncollectable and when all necessary credit reimbursement procedures are completed.
Such decision Is taken after considering the information on significant changes in the borrower’s financial standing (such as inability to repay the loan) and if proceeds from enforcement
of collateral are insufficient to cover the entire debt.

s
Limited liability company i
Bad debls are written off against provision for possible loan losses based on a decision of the Bank's Management Boall. fThe borrower's financial standing and property are rhomtored
for collectability for five years. o
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vi) Maximum Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets on the statement of financial position. The impact of possible netting of assets and
liabilities to reduce potential credit exposure is not significant.

The credit risk for off-balance financial instruments is determined as a probability of losses due to non-fulfilment of the terms and conditions of the relevant agreement by the other party
1o the financial instrument. For approval of contingent credit related commitments (undrawn credit facilities, letters of credit, and guarantees), the Bank applies the same procedures and
methods determined by the Bank's credit policy as for the loan commitments (loans) recognised in the balance sheet. The maximum credit risk for off-balance financial instruments is
shown in Note 26.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 340 674 1467 286
Mandatory cash balances with the Central Bank of Russia 22 239 38 896
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 58743 47 819
Due from financial institutions 403 299 360 255
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 1901925 3333491
Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments 3549 6273
Loans and advances to customers 13189 19203
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1 585 332 1585213
Total assets 4328 950 6 858 436
- Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk caused by the credit institution’s inability to fund increases in assels and meet liabilities as they come due, without incumring losses in amounts unacceptable for
the financial stability.

The Bank maintains the required liquidity level in order lo ensure the continuing availability of cash required to settle all liabilities as they mature by maintaining diversified and stable
structure of financing sources consisting of debt securities, long-term and short-lerm loans frem other banks, deposils from major corporate customers and individuals as well as
diversified highly liquid asset portfolio in order to be able to react quickly and without sudden fluciuations to unforeseeable liquidity requirements.

The liquidity risk factors, the basic principles, and the risk management process are set out in the adopted Banking Risk and Capital Management Policy of PJSC Best Efforts Bank.

The main external factors determining the Bank’s liquidity include:

* Sudden changes in lhe economic and pelitical siluation in the country;
» Banking system stability;

* Condition of meney and securilies market.

The intemmal factors affecting the Bank's liquidity include:
 Maturity mismatch of assets and liabililies;

* Income and expense imbalances;

« High uncertainty of future payments;

* Risk of borrowers' insolvency.

Liquidity risk management procedures, liquidity assessment and management methods, reporting and information exchange procedures in the course of liquidity risk management are
described in the Banking Risk Management and Capital Adequacy Assessment Procedures of PJSC Best Efforts Bank.

The Bank’s liquidity management requires analysis of liquid assets level necessary to setile liabililies at their maturity, access to various sources of financing, plans of action in case of
problems wilh financing and monitering whether balance sheet liquidity ratios comply with the legislation of the Russian Federation.
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS

for the year ended 31 December 2018
{thousand Russian rubles)

The carrying amount of financial instruments broken down by expected maturify term as at 31 December 2018 is presented in the lable below:

On demand Qutstanding /
and less than Fmr:'n:)::hz From 6 to 12 months Erom 1;year ::;ras Over 3 years with unlimited Total
1 month ¥ period
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 340674 - - - - - 340 674
Mandatory ca.sh balances with the Central 22 239 - _ B _ R 22 239
Bank of Russia
Financial assets at fair value through prafit or 58 743 _ B : _ . 58 743
loss
.PDS|hve fair value of derivative financial 3549 _ _ _ _ _ 3549
instruments
Due from financial institutions 403 299 - - - - 403 299
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 1443 848 458 077 - - - - 1901925
Loans and advances to customers - 264 128 8417 4379 - 13189
Financial assets held for income generation 1585332 _ 1 585332
or for sale
Current income tax receivable 4385 - - - - - 4 385
Deferred tax asset 2 656 - - - - - 2 656
Property, plant and equipment - - - - 86 332 - 86 332
Intangible assets - - - - 11177 - 11177
Other assels 14 903 - 14 903
Total assets 3879628 458 341 128 8 417 101 888 - 4 448 403
LIABILITIES
_Negauve fair value of derivative financial 2542 R R B ; _ 2542
instruments
Accounts payable under repo agreements 470 084 - - - - - 470 084
Due to banks and other financial institutions 11 242 - - - - - 11 242
Customer accounts 2183119 11 846 2330 1 500 000 - 2 697 296
Deferred tax liability - - - - - - -
Other liabilities and provisions 146 325 - - - - 146 325
Total liabilities 2813312 11 846 2330 1 500 0C0 - 3327 489
;’:::a'a"r‘e wiisatimnaertal Dacaniber 1066 316 446 495 (2 202) 8 416 (398 112) - 1120914
Net balance sheet item on accrual basis
as at 31 December 2018 1066 316 1512812 1510 610 1519 026 1120 914 1120914
L'Lmiledﬁgpi;tyii company
2
e
o
FBK :
. (] =1
Auditor's report E
&
Fagesb OORN 1027700058286 Moscow o SIOSIADE SSOTRI




Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS

for the year ended 31 December 2018
(thousand Russian rubles)

The carrying amount of financial instruments broken down by expected maturity term as at 31 December 2017 is presented in the table below:

On demand F 1106 From 1'vearto:3 OQutstanding /
and less than m“:noncl’hs From 6 to 12 months ¥ cars Over 3 years with unlimited Total
1 month ¥ period
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1467 286 - - - - - 1 467 286
Mandatory ca_sh balances with the Central 38 896 _ ; R B _ 28 896
Bank of Russia
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 3193493 139 998 - - - - 3333 491
Financial assels at fair value through profit or 47 819 B R _ . R 47819
loss
_Posilive fair value of derivative financial 6273 ; B R _ B 6273
instruments
Due from financial institutions 360 255 - - - - - 360 255
Loans and advances to customers - - 890 18313 - - 19 203
Financial asseis held for income generation 1585213 _ _ B B - 1585213
or for sale
Current income tax receivable 4405 - - - - - 4405
Deferred tax asset 17 986 - - - - - 17 988
Property, plant and equipment - - - - 113 849 - 113 849
Intangible assets - - - - 10 891 - 10 891
Other assets 6220 - - - - - 6220
Total assets 6 727 846 139998 890 18 313 124 740 - 7011787
LIABILITIES
!‘degallve fair value of derivalive financial 1120 _ ; _ B _ 1120
instruments
Accounts payable under repo agreements 1517 104 - - - - - 1517 104
Due to banks and other financial instilutions 1133 - - - - - 1133
Obligations to supply securities 718993 - - - - - 718 993
Customer accounts 1766 263 1117 638 1510 513 437 - - 3 398 848
Other liabilities and provisions 33452 - - - - - 33452
Total liabilities 4038 065 1117 638 1510 513 437 - - 5 670 650
;";1‘;"""““’:" sheeliltenas:at 31 December: 2689 781 (977 640) (620} (495 124) 124 740 - 1341137
Net balance sheet item on accrual basis 2689 781 1712141 1711 521 1216307 1341137 1341137

as at 31 December 2017

As a rule, the difference from the camrying amount is increased potential costs for borrowings in accordance with the terms and conditions of contracts in force at the settlement date till

the end of their realization.

Undiscounted cash flows in item *Futures transactions and derivatives™ mainly represent obligations to deliver formgn

transaction). Amounts are shown in Russian rubles at the exchange rate as at the reporling date.
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

When the amount payable is not fixed, the amouni in the table is calculated depending on condilions exisling at ihe reporling date. Currency payments are restated with spot foreign

exchange rate effective at the reporting date.

The analysis of financial liabilities by malurity as at 31 December 2018 is given in the table below:

On demand and less From6to12
than 1 month From 1 to 6 months months Over 1 year Total
LIABILITIES
Negalive fair value of derivative financial instruments 2 542 - - - 2542
Accounts payable under repo agreements 470 084 - - - 470 084
Due to banks and other financial institutions 11242 - - - 11 242
Customer accounts 2183119 11 846 2330 500 001 2 697 296
Deferred tax liability - - - - -
Other liabilities and provisions 146 325 - - - 146 325
Total potential future payments on financial liabilities 2813312 11 846 2 330 500 001 3327 489
The analysis of financial liabilities by maturity as at 31 December 2017 is given in the table below:
On demand and less From 1 to 6 menths From:Gtoi12 Over 1 year Total
than 1 month months
LIABILITIES
Negative fair value of derivative financial instrumenis 1120 - - - 1120
Accounts payable under repo agreemenis 1517104 - - - 1517 104
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1133 - - - 1133
Obligalions to supply securilies 718993 - - - 718993
Customer accounts 1766 263 1117 638 1510 513 437 3 398 848
Other liabilities and provisions 33452 - - - 33 452
Total potential future payments on financial liabilities 4 038 065 1117 638 1510 513 437 5670650

— Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the Bank will incur financial losses due to changes in the current {fair) value of financial instruments of the Bank's irading portfolio and derivative financial
instruments, as well as of foreign exchange rates andfor accounting prices for precious metals.

Market risk is divided into:
- Interest rate risk
- Currency risk

When managing the market risk, the Bank achieves the following objectives:
+ Arranging control over trading portfolio diversification;

* Maintaining the Bank's open positions at the level not posing a threat to its financial standing.

The market risk management methods depend on the nature of risks arising and are divided into general and specific ones.

The general market risk management methods include:

* System for collecling and analysing information on markets and counterpariies;
* System for setting and controlling limits;

« Market price change current monitoring system;

» Hedging system.

- Interest Rate Risk

The interest rate risk is a risk of deterioration of financial state of the Bank due to the decrease in capital, income level, asset value due to the change in interest rates on the market,
Interesl rate risk management is part of the risk and capital management system of PJSC Best Efforis Bank.

The interesi rale risk management procedures include a list of assets (liabiliies) sensilive lo changes in interest rales.

The quantitative parameters of acceplable (admissible) interest rate risk leve! and other elemenis (components) of the inte

Bank's intemal documents.
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

Interest rate risk management based on the analysis of the term when interest rates are reviewed is supplemented by monitoring the assets and liabililies sensilivity.

The analysis of the Bank's risk resulting from fluctuations in interest rates as at 31 December 2018 is given below. The table displays assels and liabilities which are exposed to interest
rate risk and classified into different time categories by contractual dates of interest rate revision.

On demand and

Indefinite term

fess than 1 From 1 to 6 months From 6 to 12 months Over 1 year [/ Nointerest Total
month rate risk
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 340674 - - - - 340674
Mandatory cash balances with the Central Bank of Russia 22 239 - - - - 22239
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 58743 - - - - 58 743
Due from financial institutions 403 299 - - - - 403 299
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 1443 848 458 077 - - - 1901925
Loans and advances to customers - 264 128 12796 13189
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1585332 - - - 1585 332
Positive fair value of derivalive financial instruments 3 549 3549
Current income fax receivable 4385 - - - - 4385
Deferred tax asset 2 656 - - - - 2656
Property, plant and equipment - - - 86 332 86 332
Intangible assets - - - 11177 11177
Other assets 14 903 - - - - 14 903
Total assets 3879628 458 341 128 110 305 - 4 448 403
Accrued total assets 3879628 4337 970 4 338 098 4448 403
LIABILITIES )
Negative fair value of derivative financial instruments 2542 - - - - 2542
Accounts payable under repo agreements 470 084 - - - - 470 084
Due to banks and other financial institutions 11 242 - - - - 11 242
Customer accounts 2183119 11 846 2330 500 001 - 2 697 296
Deferred tax liability - - - - - -
Other liabilittes and provisions 146 325 - - - - 146 325
Total liabilities 2813312 11 846 2330 500 001 - 3 327 489
Accrued total liabilities 2813312 2825158 2 827 488 3 327 489 3 327 489
Marginal gap 1066 316 446 495 {2 202) (389 696) -
Gap ratio (cumulative relative gap on accrual basis) 137,90% 153,55% 153,43% 133,69% 133,69%
Interest rate sensitivity 10219 3163 (6) 13376
MRS S gy
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

{thousand Russian rubles)

The analysis of the Bank's risk resulling from fluctuations in interest rates as at 31 December 2017 is given below.

On demand and

Indefinite term

less than 1 From 1 to 6 months From 6 to 12 months Over 1 year /No interest Total
month rate risk

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 1467 286 - - - - 1467 286
Mandatory cash balances with the Central Bank of Russia 38 896 - - - - 38 896
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 3193 493 139 998 - - - 3333491
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 47 819 - - - - 47 819
Posilive fair value of derivative financial instruments 6273 - - - - 6273
Due from financial instilutions 360 255 - - - - 360 255
Loans and advances {o customers - - 890 18313 = 19 203
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1585 213 - - - - 1585213
Current income tax receivable 4405 - - - - 4 405
Deferred tax asset 17 988 - - - - 17 986
Property, plant and equipment - - - 113 849 - 113 849
Intangible assets - - - 10 891 - 10891
Other assets 6 220 - - - - 6220
Total assets 6 727 846 139 998 890 143 053 - 7 011787
Accrued total assets 6 727 846 6 867 844 6 868 734 7011787 7011787
LIABILITIES
Negalive fair value of derivative financial instruments 1120 - - - - 1120
Accounts payable under repo agreements 1517 104 - - - - 1517 104
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1133 - - - - 1133
Obligations to supply securities 718 993 - - - - 718 993
Customer accounts 1766 263 1117 638 1510 513 437 - 3398 848
Other liabilities and provisions 33 452 - - - - 33 452
Total liabilities 4038 065 1117 638 1510 513 437 . - 5670 650
Accrued total liabilities 4 038 065 5155703 5157 213 5670 650 5670650
Marginal gap 2689781 {977 640) (620) (370 384) -
Gap ratio (cumulative relative gap on accrual basis) 166,61% 133,21% 133,19% 123,65% 123,65%
Interest rate sensitivity 25777 (6 925) {2) 18 851

Sensilivity to fluctuations in interest rates is the effect of a parallel shift in all yield curves of 100 basis poinis to the amount of net interest income (expense) for a year.

Analysis of the interest rate risk on the basis of the above tables is cenducted over an absolule gap amount obtained at the end of the year. As at 31 December 2018, upon increasing
interest rate by 100 basis points, the effect on net interest income for the year was RUB 13,376 thousand, upon decreasing interest rate net interest expense was RUB 13,376
thousand (in 2017, upon increasing interest rate by 100 basis points, the effect on net interest income for the year was RUB 18,851 thousand, upon decreasing interest rate net interest

expense was RUB 18,851 thousand).

2018

2017

Profit or loss

Equity

Profit or loss Equity

Increase

100 basis points
Decrease

100 basis points

13

(133

- 18 851

[@E»mewy
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

{thousand Russian rubles)

— Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates andfor precious metals
rates for positions held by the Bank in foreign currencies and/or precious metals.

The analysis of sensilivity of profit or loss and equity to currency risks based on a simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical rise or fall in all yield curves as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017
10% apprecialion of USD against RUB 581 {583)
10% appreciation of EUR against RUB (712) {895)

The Bank is exposed to currency risk that is the risk of losses arising from adverse changes in exchange rates on open foreign currency positions.

The Bank sets limits on the level of accepted risk by cummrency and comprehensively both for the end of each day and throughout the day and controls adherence to these limils on a
daily basis.

The table below provides general analysis of the Bank's currency risk as at the reporling date, 31 December 2018:;

RUB usD EUR Giten Total
currencies

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 138 758 183 069 18773 75 340674
Mandatory cash balances with the Ceniral Bank of Russia 22 239 - - - 22239
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 1197 308 356 093 348 524 - 1901 925
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 58 717 26 - - 58743
Posilive fair value of derivative financial instruments 3549 - - - 3 549
Due frem financial instifutions 132 151 830 251337 403 299
Loans and advances to customers 13189 - - - 13189
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1321434 162 041 101 856 - 1585 332
Current income {ax receivable 4 385 - - - 4 385
Deferred tax asset 2 656 - - - 2656
Properiy, plant and equipment 86 332 - - - 86 332
Intangible assets 11177 - - - 11177
Other assels 14 903 - - - 14 903
Total assets 2874779 853 059 720 490 75 4 448 403
LIABILITIES
Negalive fair value of derivative financial instruments 2542 - - - 2542
Due to banks and other financial institutions 821 10 421 - - 11242
Accounts payable under repo agreements 470 084 - - - 470 084
Customer accounts 1324 183 1360691 12 421 - 2 697 296
Deferred tax liability - - - - -
Other liabilities and provisions 18 868 127 410 47 - 146 325
Total liabilities 1816 498 1498 522 12 468 - 3 327 489
Effect of derivative financial instruments expressed in
foralan:currsticles 64 501 651 278 (715 145) - 634
Net balance sheet item 1122782 5814 (7 122) 75 1121 548

- S
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The table below provides general analysis of the Bank's currency risk as at the reperting date, 31 December 2017:

Other

RUB usp EUR curencies Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 635 934 36 979 794 282 91 1467 286
Mandatory cash balances with the Central Bank of Russia 38 896 - - - 38 896
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 47 819 - - - 47 819
Due from financial institutions 6 359 156 247 197 649 - 360 255
Accounts receivable under repo agreements 2122 164 1211327 - - 3333491
Positive fair value of derivative financial instruments 1267 247 4758 - 6273
Loans and advances to customers 19 203 - - - 19 203
Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1433 267 151 946 - - 1585213
Current income tax receivable 4 405 - - - 4 405
Deferred tax asset 17 986 - - - 17 986
Property, plant and equipment 113 849 - - - 113849
Intangible assets 10 891 - - - 10 891
Other assels 6220 - - - 6220
Total assets 4 458 261 1 556 746 996 690 91 7011787
LIABILITIES
Negative fair value of derivative financial instruments A - 1089 - 1120
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1133 - - - 1133
Obligations to supply securities 718 993 - - - 718 993
Accounts payable under repe agreements 1254 239 262 865 - - 1517 104
Customer accounts 1453 083 1877 819 67 946 - 3398 848
Other liabilities and provisions 18 343 15 096 13 - 33 452
Total liabilities 3445822 2155780 69 048 - 5670 650
Effef:t of derlval-lve financial instruments expressed in 348 534 593 207 (936 588) ; 5153
foreign currencies
Net balance sheet item 1360973 {5827) (8 946) 91 1346 290

24 Capital Management

The Bank’s capilal management is aimed at: (i) adherence to the legal capital requirements set by the Bank of Russia and (i} ensuring the Bank's ability to operate as a going concem.
The Bank also monilors the level of capital adequacy calculated in accerdance with the Basel Accord on an ongoing basis to maintain it at or above 8%.

During the periods ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Bank observed the capilal adequacy ralio esiablished by the Bank of Russia.

The Bank shall observe the minimum capital level requirements, including capital adeguacy ralio calcutated on the basis of the Basel Capital Accords as slipulated by the Intemational
Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards (accepled in July 1988 and as amended in April 2005) and the Supplement to the Basel Capital Accords introducing
market risk consideration (as amended in November 2005), usually referred 1o as Basel Ill. Below you will find the structure of the Bank's capital calculated on the basis of the Basel
Capital Accords:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Equity

Tier 1 capital

Share capital 702762 702 762
Share premium 685811 685 811
S:;T)LL;L::; ]rfes?nr:;e rﬁ(fe financial assets held fer income generation or for sale at fair value through other (17 735) (2 448)
Retained eamings (251 132) {44 988)
Total tier 2 capital - -
Components decreasing equity

Intangible assets (11177) (10 891)
Total components decreasing equity ﬁ Eiﬁ E!‘E‘i“)' COMPany (44177} 110&91)
Total equity 1108 529 1 3301246
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Below are the Bank's capital adequacy ralios calculated by the Bank in accordance with the requirements of 180-I:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 36,33 38,51
Total capital adequacy ratio (tiers 1 and 2) 36,33 38,51

During 2018 and 2017, the Bank complied wilh all extemal capilal requirements.

25 Contingent Liabilities

Legal Proceedings

From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank are received by judicial aulherilies. Based on own assessment and recemmendalions of internal and
external advisors, the management believes that the Bank will not incur any material losses resulting from legal proceedings on such claims and, for this reason, has not created any
related provisions.

Tax Legislation

Significant part of the Bank's transactions is made in the Russian Federation. The tax legislalion of the Russian Federation {including amendments entered in force at the end of the
reporting period) allows different interpretations, when applied to the Bank’s transactions and aclivities, and is subject te frequent amendments. Therefore, the position taken by the
Bank's management as to taxation and the official documents in support of its tax position may be challenged by the relevant authorities. The Russian tax autherities adhere to the rigid
positien and there is a risk of audit of fax operations without explicit business objective or of transactions made with counterparties violating the tax legislation. Tax periods remain open
for audit by the tax authorities to check tax payments within three calendar years preceding the year, which is audited. In some cases, audits may cover longer periods.

The Russian legislation on transfer pricing largely comesponds to the intematicnal transfer pricing principles developed by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development. This legislation provides a possibility for the 1ax authorities to adjust transfer pricing and impose any additional tax liabilities with regard to all controlled transactions
(related party transactions and some nen-related party transactions), provided that the transaction price differs from a market price.

The Russian legislation contains specific rules for adjusting transaction prices for lax purposes, including transfer pricing rules, and rules for securities and derivalives. The Bank
believes that the transactions made in 2017 do not require any tax adjustments, except for some transactions (mainly classified as transactions in securities and derivatives). As the
interpretation of transfer pricing rules is being elaborated, such transfer prices may be challenged. The consequences thereof cannot be assessed with a reasonable degree of accuracy.

The legislation on controlled foreign companies implemented in the Russian Federation a tool for taxing profit of controlled foreign companies and foreign non-corporate entities
(including trusts) controlled by the Russian tax residenis. Income of controlled foreign companies is taxed at the rate of 20% if such companies are controlled by a legal entity or at the
rate of 13% if they are controlled by an individual. As a result, management revised the Bank's tax positions and concluded that such new legislation would not result in additional
significant deferred taxes due to temporary differences resulting from the expected taxation method of the relevant Bank's activities falling within the scope of the legislation on
controlled foreign companies.

The Russian tax legislation does not contain complete guidance on all fax issues, and the tax authorities may challenge he interpretations of the legislation applied by the Bank.
Although, at present, management believes that such tax positions and interpretations may be confirmed, there is a risk that a resource outflow may be required if these tax positions
and interpretations are challenged by the relevant authorities. The consequences thereof cannot be assessed with a reasonable degree of accuracy; however, they may significanily
affect the Bank's financial standing and/or aclivities in general.

Apart from the above risks, as per the Bank’s estimate, as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 ihe Bank has no other potential tax liabilities. The above risks are estimates
resulling from the uncertainty in the interpretation of the applicable legislation and the relevant requiremenis to documents. Management will assert the Bank's positions and
interpretations used when determining taxes recorded in these financial statements if they are challenged.

26 Derivatives

Foreign exchange (and other) derivatives are usually traded in exchange market with professional traders under standardised contracts.

Fair value of forwards, swaps, and oplions under interest rate contracts, foreign exchange contracts, and securities contracts concluded by the Bank as at the reporting date are shown
in the table below. The fable includes centracts with the settlement dates after the relevant reporling date; the amounts for these fransactions are shown in detail before netting of
positions (and paymenis) for each counterparty. Transactions are short-term.

31 December 2018

Conltract or agreed amount Positive fair value Negative fair value

Currency contracts - 31556 {2 521)
Forwards and swaps - 3155 (2 521)
Securities contracls imited liability company B X 2n
Total derivative financial assets (liabilities) - 42)
T
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Fair value of forwards, swaps, and options under interest rate contracts, foreign exchange contracts, and shares confracts concluded by the Bank are shown in the table below as at 31
December 2017:

31 December 2017

Contfract or agreed amount Positive fair value Negative fair value
Currency contracts - 6273 {1120)
Forwards and swaps - 6273 (1120}
Securities contracts - - -
Total derivative financial assets (liabilities) - 6273 {1120)

27 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is the amount for which a financial instrument could be exchanged between knowledgeable, wiling parties in an arm's length transaction. The best evidence of fair value is
given by quoted price in the market for the financial instrument.

The Bank defermined the estimated fair value of financial instruments on the basis of available market data (if any) and proper valuation techniques. Professional judgments are
however required lo interpret market data to determine the fair value. Notwithstanding the Russian Federation has invesiment grade ratings, it continues to display some characteristic
of an emerging economy and economic environment continues to limit the level of activity in financial markets. Management uses all available market data when assessing the fair
value of financial instruments.

To measure the fair value of financial instruments, the Bank uses inputs of various levels on a recurring basis:

Level 1 inputs are quoted {unadjustable) prices in active markets for a financial asset that the Bank can access at the measurement date. A quoted price in an active market provides
the most reliable evidence of fair value and is used without adjustment to measure fair value whenever available.

Level 1 inputs include:

- Quoted prices in main markets for this financial instrument / type of financial instrument;

- Data disclosed by other trading authorilies or information systems, which operators are professional securities traders carrying out aclivities to arrange trading on the securities market.

Level 2 inputs are inputs (adjustable) other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for a financial instrument, either directly or indirectly. If prices for current
lransactions or published current quoted prices are not available, the fair value of financial instrumenis is determined based on valuation techniques using observable parameters
detected direclly (i.e., as prices) or indireclly (i.e., as a parameter derived from a price).

Level 2 inputs include:

- Quoted prices or yields for similar financial instruments in active markets;

- Data cbservable for a financial instrument and corroborated by the market;

- Quoted prices for identical or similar securilies in markets that are not active.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the financial instrument being measured as well as inputs that the Bank cannot classify as Level 1 and Level 2 inputs. Level 3 inputs are used
1o measure financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market. Accordingly, their fair value may be determined using at least one unobservable parameter that is significant for
determining fair value or using valuation technique, which assumes that the cumulative effect of unobservable parameters is significant for measuring fair value. Unobservable
parameters show the Bank's own assumptions and the assumplions used by the market pariicipants in the process of setting price for an asset or a liability, including risk assessment.
When using Level 2 inputs and below, the price calculated based on the professional judgement is deemed as reliably determined.

Depending on the used inputs and methods for determining the fair value of financial insiruments, the obtained fair value may have a different level in the Fair Value Hierarchy.
Level 1: fair value of financial instruments traded in an aclive market, which may be determined based on current unadjusted market data (Level 1 inpuls).
Level 2: fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market, which may be determined using observable parameters (Level 2 inputs).
Level 3: fair value of financial instruments traded in an inaclive market, which may be determined using at least one unobservable parameter (Level 3 inputs).

Financial Instruments at Fair Value

Trading securities, other securities, loans and advances to cuslomers, changes in fair value of which are recognised in the stalement of profit and loss, derivative financial instruments
and financial assets held for income generation or for sale are reported at fair value. The fair value is based on the quoted market prices. Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at
amortised cost which approximates their current fair value.
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

Due from Financial Institutions at Amortised Cost and at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

In the management’s opinion, the fair value of due from financial institutions did not significantly differ from their camying amount. It is explained by the existent practice when interest
rate is restaled in order to reflect current market conditions. Therefere, interest rate for most balances is based on rates similar to market ones.

Loans and Advances to Customers at Amortised Cost or at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

The fair value of floaling rate instrumenis is normally their carrying amount. In case of significant changes in the market environment, the Bank can review interest rates on fixed rate
loans to customers and deposits with other banks. As a consequence, interest rates on loans made prior to the reporting date do not significantly differ from effective interest rates in the
loan market for new instruments with similar credit risks and remaining maturities. if the Bank estimates lhat rates on loans made in earlier periods significantly differ from effective
interest rates for similar instruments at the reporling date, the estimated fair value of such loans shall be determined. The measurement is based on expected cash flows discounted at
effective interest rates in the loan market for new instruments wilh similar credit risks and remaining maturities. The discount rates used depend on the currency, maturity of the
instrument and credit risk of the counterparty.

Financial Assets Held for Income Generation
The amortised cost of financial assels held for income generation is based on the quoted market prices.

The Bank eslimates the fair value of other financial assets, including trade and business receivables that is equal to ihe carmying amount taking into account that the indebtedness is
short-term.

Liabilities at Amortised Cost

The fair value of liabilities at amortised cost is based on the quoted market prices, if available. The estimated fair value of fixed rate instruments with a stated maturity, for which quoled
market prices are not available, is based on expected cash flows discounted at interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risks and remaining maturities. The fair value of
liabilities repayable on demand or after a notice period {demandable liabilities) is estimated as the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be
required to be paid.

Derivatives
All derivative financial instruments are accounted for at fair value as assefs if fair value of such instruments is posilive or as liabilities if their fair value is negative.

The fair value of financial instruments is as follows:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets
Financial assefs at fair value

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 58 743 58743 47 819 47 819

Posilive fair value of derivative financial instruments 3548 3549 6273 6273

Financial assefs at fair value through other comprehensive

income

Financial assets held for income generation or for sale 1585 332 1585 332 1585213 1585213
Financial assefs af amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 340 674 340674 1467 286 1467 286

Due from financial inslitutions 403 299 403 299 360 255 360 255

Loans and advances to custemers 13189 13 189 19 203 19 203
Total financial assets 2 404 786 2404 786 3 486 049 3 486 049
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value

Negalive fair value of derivalive financial instruments 2542 2542 1120 1120

Obligations to supply securities - - 718993 718 993
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Due to banks and other financial institutions 11 242 11242 1133 1133

Customer accounts 2 697 296 2 697 296 3398 848 3 398 848

Other liabilities and provisions 146 619 146 619 33452 33452
Total liabilities 2857 699 [ 2L EDRubi Ity company 8 125 526 ¥ 153545
Level 1 hierarchy includes the largest part of the assets amounting to RUB 1,585,332 thousand. F B K
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

{thousand Russian rubles)

28 Related Party Transactions

For the purposes of these financial statements, the parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise significant influence on the
other party in making financial and operating decisions as stated in IAS 24 "Related Party Disclosures™. When considering each possible related party relationship, attention is paid to

the substance of such relationship, not merely its legal form.

The most significant (by the scope of transactions) related parties of the Bank are the principal shareholders and the key management personne.

Below are the data on related party transactions grouped by item of the statement of financial position and by contingent liability as at 31 December 2018, by item of income and

expenses for 2018:

Principal shareholders

Key management personnel Other related parties

ASSETS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 58 709
Due from financial institutions - - 10250
Accounts receivable under repo agreements - - -
Loans and advances to customers - 8618 -
Other assels 108 - -
Total assets 106 8618 68 959
LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - -
Due to banks and other financial institutions - - 11 242
Customer accounts other than individual accounts 38 506 - 712 669
Individual accounts - 463 =
Other liabilifies and provisions 441 - 58
Subordinated deposit 509 503 - -
Total liabilities 548 451 463 723 969

Principal shareholders

Key management personnel Other related parties

Interest income

Interest expense

Change in provision for expecled credil losses on interest
bearing assets

Income less expenses from transaclions with financial assets /
liabilities

Income less expenses frem transactions with foreign
currencies and derivative financial instruments

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

Change in other provisions and change in eslimaled liabilities

Other operating income
Operaling expenses

37 106

(7 046)

9650

36

287
7 567

1297 177
. 1456

238 11101

- 1

3 (28 843)

62 5281

= 13530
11646 -
- 3

- 618
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Public Joint Stock Company Best Efforts Bank

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with IFRS
for the year ended 31 December 2018

(thousand Russian rubles)

Below are the data on related party iransactions grouped by item of the statement of financial posilion and by conlingent liability as al 31 December 2017, by ilem of income and

expenses for 2017:

Principal shareholders

Key management personnel

Other related parties

ASSETS

Funds for transactions on the exchange - - 31661
Accounts receivable under repo agreements - - 41638
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 47 787
Loans and advances to customers - 10 430 «
Other assets 46 - 1086
Total assets 46 10 430 122172
LIABILITIES

Due to banks and other financial instilutions - - 1133
Customer accounts other than individual accounlts 88 319 - 168 682
Individual accounts - 778 -
Other liabilities and provisions 374 - 247
Subordinated deposit 510 380 - -
Total liabilities 599 073 778 170 062

Principal shareholders

Key management personnel

Other related parties

Interest income

Income less expenses from Iransactions wilh financial assels /

liabilities

Income less expenses from transaclions with foreign currencies

Fee and commission income

Change in provision for expecled credit losses on assets held

far income generation

Change in other provisions and change in eslimated liabilities

Other operating income

Operating expenses

20 418

3681

596

(3925)

1524

73

60

3416

20 254
{4 462)

14 954
14 391

(1 165}

127
(2 114)

The Bank's key management personnel consist of the members of the Board of Directers and lhe Management Board of the Bank. Below is the information on the remuneration paid to

the key management personnel for 2018 and 2017, included in item “Staff costs™

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Short-term payments

8689

7878

29 Subsequent Events

There were no subsequent events before the signing date of these financial statemenits.

30 Estimates and Assumptions Impact on Recognized Assets and Liabllities

The Bank carries out estimates and assumptions having impact on recognized amounts of assets and liabilities during the following financial year. Estimates and judgements are
accepted and based on historic experience and other factors, including expeciations of future events which may arise under cerain circumstances.

Going Concern Principle

The management prepared these financial stalements based on going concern principle. Using this judgement, management took into account the existing intentions, the profit margin of

operalions, the available financial resources, and the impact of the current economic siluation on the Bank's activities.

Signed on 14 March 2019

I. B. lonova
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